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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements. All statements contained in this prospectus other than
statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our future operating results and financial position, our business strategy and plans,
market growth and trends, and our objectives for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,”
“continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “plan,” “potentially,” “preliminary,” “likely,” and similar expressions are intended
to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about
future events and trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-term and long-term
business operations and objectives, and financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and
assumptions, including those described under Part II. Item 1A. “Risk Factors.” Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing
environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the effect of all
factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, the future events and trends
discussed in this prospectus may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the
forward-looking statements.
You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The events and circumstances reflected in the forwardlooking statements may not be achieved or occur. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are
reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, performance, or events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will
be achieved or occur. We undertake no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of this
prospectus or to conform these statements to actual results or revised expectations.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements (unaudited)
Redfin Corporation and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts, unaudited)
December 31,

June 30,

Pro Forma, June 30,

2016

2017

2017

Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

64,030

$

54,210

Restricted cash

3,815

11,848

Short-term investments

1,749

1,504

Prepaid expenses

4,388

2,546

10,625

14,509

8,781

2,298

Accrued revenue, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $150 at
December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017
Other current assets
Loans held for sale

—

545

Total current assets

93,388

87,460

Property and equipment, net

19,226

22,137

Intangible assets, net

3,782

3,538

Goodwill

9,186

9,186

720

2,299

Deferred offering costs
Other assets

7,175

Total assets:

6,798

$

133,477

$

131,418

$

5,385

$

3,081

Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders'
equity (deficit):
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Other payables
Loan facility

22,253

30,248

3,793

11,607

—

529

1,512

1,092

32,943

46,557

8,852

10,473

41,795

57,030

655,416

791,106

Common stock—par value $0.001 per share; 290,081,638 and 290,081,638
shares authorized, respectively; 14,687,024 and 14,988,646 shares issued and
outstanding, respectively

15

15

70

Additional paid-in capital

—

—

212,081

Current portion of deferred rent
Total current liabilities
Deferred rent, net of current portion
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Redeemable convertible preferred stock—par value $0.001 per share;
166,266,114 shares authorized; 55,422,002 issued and outstanding; and
aggregate liquidation preference of $167,488

$

—

Stockholders’ equity (deficit)

Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity:

$

(563,749)

(716,733)

(563,734)

(716,718)

133,477

$

(137,763)
$

131,418

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Redfin Corporation and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts, unaudited)
Three Months Ended June 30,
2016
Revenue

$

Six Months Ended June 30,

2017
77,714

$

2016

104,935

$

2017

119,349

$

164,802

Cost of revenue

50,303

67,975

88,808

121,467

Gross profit

27,411

36,960

30,541

43,335

Technology and development

8,060

10,090

15,958

19,762

Marketing

8,486

10,132

17,697

20,591

General and administrative

9,526

12,466

19,912

26,833

26,072

32,688

53,567

67,186

1,339

4,272

(23,026)

(23,851)

Interest income

49

32

96

76

Other income, net

—

—

37

13

49

32

133

Operating expenses:

Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income and other income, net:

Total interest income and other income, net
$

Net income (loss)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock

1,388

$

65,082

Undistributed earnings attributable to participating securities

4,304

$

(110,921)

(52,805)

(22,893)

89
$

59,869

—

(23,762)
(135,690)

(29,397)

—

Net income (loss) attributable to common stock—basic

$

13,665

$

(106,617)

$

7,579

$

(159,452)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stock—diluted

$

1,388

$

(106,617)

$

(22,893)

$

(159,452)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stock—basic

$

0.95

$

(7.15)

$

0.53

$

(10.74)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stock—diluted

$

0.02

$

(7.15)

$

(0.33)

$

(10.74)

Weighted average shares used to compute net income (loss) per share
attributable to common stock—basic

14,340,333

14,913,234

14,288,550

14,840,759

Weighted average shares used to compute net income (loss) per share
attributable to common stock—diluted

74,080,026

14,913,234

69,710,552

14,840,759

Pro forma net income (loss) per share attributable to common stock—basic
and diluted
Pro forma weighted-average shares used to compute net income (loss) per
share attributable to common stock—basic and diluted

$

0.06
70,335,236

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

$

(0.34)
70,262,761
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Redfin Corporation and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands, unaudited)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2016

2017

Operating Activities
Net income (loss)

$

(22,893)

$

(23,762)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

2,935

3,539

Stock-based compensation.

3,734

5,320

(8,610)

(8,032)

Change in assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash
Prepaid expenses

4,523

1,842

Accrued revenue

(7,168)

(3,885)

Other current assets
Other long-term assets
Accounts payable

(10)

6,482

(5,816)

377

332

901

Accrued expenses

5,859

8,481

Other payables

8,609

7,814

Deferred lease liability

(157)

Origination of loans held for sale
Proceeds from sale of loans originated as held for sale
Net cash used in operating activities

1,097

—

(3,022)

—

2,477

(18,662)

(371)

Investing activities
Maturities of short-term investments

1,644

Purchases of short-term investments

(1,644)

(992)

Purchases of property and equipment

(2,660)

(9,435)

(2,660)

(9,188)

Net cash used in investing activities

1,239

Financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options

462

1,017

Payment of deferred initial public offering costs

—

Borrowings from warehouse credit facilities

—

2,932

Repayments of warehouse credit facilities

—

(2,403)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

(1,807)

462

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

(261)

(20,860)

(9,820)

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period

85,597

64,030

$

64,737

$

54,210

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock

$

59,869

$

(135,690)

Stock-based compensation capitalized in property and equipment

$

(39)

$

(131)

Deferred initial public offering cost accruals

$

—

$

(343)

Leasehold improvements paid directly by lessor

$

—

$

(104)

End of period
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Redfin Corporation and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
(in thousands, except for shares)
Redeemable
Convertible
Preferred Stock

Common Stock

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders'
Deficit

$

$

Shares

Amount

Shares

Balance, January 1, 2016

55,422,002

$ 599,915

14,059,601

Exercise of stock options

—

—

627,423

1

1,494

—

Stock-based compensation

—

—

—

—

8,512

—

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock

—

55,501

—

—

(10,006)

Net income (loss)

Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

$

14

$

—

—

—

55,422,002

$ 655,416

14,687,024

Cumulative stock-based compensation adjustment

—

—

—

—

522

Exercise of stock options

—

—

301,622

—

1,017

Stock-based compensation

—

—

—

—

5,451

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock

—

135,690

—

—

(6,990)

Balance, December 31, 2016

Net income (loss)
Balance, June 30, 2017

—

—

—

55,422,002

$ 791,106

14,988,646

—

—

$

15

15

—

(563,749)

—

1,017

—

5,451

(128,700)

(135,690)

(23,762)
$

(716,733)

(563,734)
—

—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
4

(22,526)
$

(522)

—
$

8,512
(55,502)

(22,526)
$

(495,713)
1,495

(45,496)

—
$

—
$

(495,727)

(23,762)
$

(716,718)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)
Note 1: Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
Description of Business—Redfin Corporation (“Redfin” or the “Company”) was incorporated in October 2002 and is headquartered in
Seattle, Washington. The Company operates an online real estate marketplace and provides real estate services, including assisting individuals to
purchase or sell their residential property. The Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries also provide title and settlement services and originate
mortgages. The Company has operations located in multiple states nationwide.
Basis of Presentation—The condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Certain information and disclosures normally included in
consolidated financial statements presented in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted. Accordingly, these condensed
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes for the
year ended December 31, 2016 included in our Prospectus dated July 28, 2017, filed with the SEC on July 28, 2017 pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4)
under the Securities Act of 1933, as ameded ("Prospectus"). The Company had no components of other comprehensive income (loss) during any
of the years presented, as such, a consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) is not presented. All amounts are presented in
thousands, except share and per share data.
The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, consisting only
of normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly our financial position as of June 30, 2017, our results of operations for the three and
six month periods ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, and our cash flows for the six month periods ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. The results of the
three and six month periods ended June 30, 2017 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31,
2017 or for any interim period or for any other future year.
Principles of Consolidation—The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements include the accounts of Redfin and its
wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.
Certain Significant Risks and Business Uncertainties—The Company is subject to the risks and challenges associated with companies
at a similar stage of development. These include dependence on key individuals, successful development and marketing of its offerings, and
competition with larger companies with greater financial, technical, and marketing resources. Further, during the period required to achieve
substantially higher revenue in order to become profitable, the Company may require additional funds that may not be readily available or may not
be on terms that are acceptable to the Company.
The Company operates in the online real estate marketplace and, accordingly, can be affected by a variety of factors. For example,
management of the Company believes that any of the following factors could have a significant negative effect on the Company’s future financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows: unanticipated fluctuations in operating results due to seasonality and cyclicality in the real estate
industry, changes in home sale prices and transaction volumes, the Company’s ability to increase market share, competition and U.S. economic
conditions.
Reverse Stock Split—On July 8, 2017, the Company’s board of directors approved an amendment to the Company's certificate of
incorporation to effect a reverse split of shares of the issued and outstanding common stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock at a 3-to1 ratio. The reverse stock split was approved by the Company’s stockholders and effected on July 10, 2017. The par value of the common stock
and the par value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock were not adjusted as a result of the reverse stock split. All issued and outstanding
shares of common stock and redeemable
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convertible preferred stock, dividend rates, conversion rates, options to purchase common stock, exercise prices, and the related per-share
amounts contained in these consolidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split for all periods
presented.
Use of Estimates—The preparation of the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements, in conformity with GAAP,
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and results of operations
during the respective periods. Management’s more significant estimates include, but are not limited to, valuation of deferred income taxes, stockbased compensation, fair value of common stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock, capitalization of website development costs,
recoverability of intangible assets with finite lives, and the fair value of reporting units for purposes of evaluating goodwill for impairment.
Management bases its estimates on historical experience, and on various other market-specific relevant assumptions that management believes
to be reasonable, under the circumstances. The amounts ultimately realized from the affected assets or ultimately recognized as liabilities will
depend on, among other factors, general business conditions and could differ materially in the near term from the carrying amounts reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Balance Sheet Data and Pro Forma Net Income (Loss) per Share Attributable to Common
Stock—The pro forma information has been prepared assuming that, upon the completion of the public offering, all of the Company’s redeemable
convertible preferred stock outstanding will automatically convert into shares of common stock, based on the provisions in the Company’s
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. The Company prepared the pro forma basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable
to common stock for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, assuming the automatic conversion of the redeemable convertible preferred
stock as if the initial public offering had been completed on January 1, 2017. On August 2, 2017 the Company completed an initial public offering
("IPO").
Significant Accounting Policies—There have been no material changes to our significant accounting policies and estimates during the
six months ended June 30, 2017, from the significant accounting policies described in the Prospectus.
Deferred Offering Costs—Deferred offering costs, including legal, accounting and other fees and costs relating to our planned initial
public offering, are capitalized and included as a noncurrent asset in the consolidated balance sheets. The deferred offering costs will be offset
against initial public offering proceeds upon the closing of the initial public offering within equity. There were $720 and $2,299 of capitalized
deferred offering costs as of December 31, 2016, and June 30, 2017, respectively.
Other Current Assets—In April 2017, the Company received $8,470 from the landlord of the Company's new corporate headquarters for
reimbursable leasehold improvement costs. The Company had previously recorded a receivable for this amount. The receipt of reimbursable
leasehold improvements is classified as a cash inflow of cash in the operating section in the Company's consolidated statement of cash flows for
the six months ended June 30, 2017. Additionally, in January 2017, RDFN Ventures, Inc. (“Redfin Now”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, began purchasing properties with the intent of resale. Direct property acquisition and improvement costs are capitalized and tracked
directly with each specific property. These are stated at cost unless the utility of the properties is no longer as great as their cost, in which case it
is written down to “market”. As of December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017 there were $0 and $1,582 respectively, in home inventories included in
other current assets. Of the $1,582 in home inventories at June 30, 2017, $365 were subject to active listings and $1,217 were in process and
being made ready for sale.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements—In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) issued guidance
simplifying the test for goodwill impairment. Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test is no longer required, instead requiring an entity to recognize
a goodwill impairment charge for the amount by which the goodwill carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value. This guidance is
effective for interim and annual goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning
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after December 15, 2019, and early adoption is permitted. This guidance must be applied on a prospective basis. The Company adopted this
guidance for interim and annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The Company performs its goodwill
assessment annually on October 1 of each year or as events merit. The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance to impact the
Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In March 2016, the FASB issued guidance on several aspects of the accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the
income tax consequences, impact of forfeitures, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities and classification on the statement of cash
flows. This guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption is permitted. The
Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2017 using the modified retrospective approach through a cumulative-effect adjustment of $552 to
beginning accumulated deficit, and the Company elected to account for forfeitures as they occur beginning on January 1, 2017. The adoption of
this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In November 2015, the FASB issued guidance on the balance sheet classification of deferred taxes. This standard requires that deferred
tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position. This guidance is effective for interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption is permitted. The Company has prospectively adopted this guidance as of
January 1, 2016. The adoption of this guidance had no effect on the Company’s financial position.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements—In November 2016, the FASB issued guidance on the classification and presentation of
changes in restricted cash on the statement of cash flows. This guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2017, and early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this guidance requires a retrospective transition method to each period
presented. The Company expects to adopt this guidance on January 1, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the effect the adoption of this
guidance will have on the Company’s cash flows.
In August 2016, the FASB issued guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and cash payments in the statement of cash
flows. This new standard will make eight targeted changes to how cash receipts and cash payments are presented and classified in the statement
of cash flows. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, which means that it will be effective for the
Company in its fiscal year beginning January 1, 2018. The new standard will require adoption on a retrospective basis unless it is impracticable to
apply, in which case the Company would be required to apply the amendments prospectively as of the earliest date practicable. The Company is
currently evaluating the effect the adoption of this guidance will have on the Company’s statement of cash flows.
In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance on leases. This standard requires the recognition of a right-of-use asset and lease liability on
the balance sheet for all leases. This standard also requires more detailed disclosures to enable users of financial statements to understand the
amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. This guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2018, and should be applied through a modified retrospective transition approach for leases existing at, or entered into after,
the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, and early adoption is permitted. The Company expects to
adopt this guidance on January 1, 2019. The Company believes adoption of this standard will have a significant effect on its financial position.
In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance on revenue recognition. This guidance provides that an entity should recognize revenue to depict
the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. This guidance also requires more detailed disclosures to enable users of financial
7

statements to understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The
original effective date of this guidance was for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, early adoption is not
permitted, and the guidance must be applied retrospectively or modified retrospectively. In July 2015, the FASB approved an optional one-year
deferral of the effective date. As a result, the Company expects to adopt this guidance on January 1, 2018. In 2016, the FASB issued final
amendments to clarify the implementation guidance for principal versus agent considerations, identifying performance obligations and the
accounting for licenses of intellectual property. The Company expects to adopt this guidance on January 1, 2018. While the Company does not
expect the adoption of this standard to have a significant effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows, the
Company continues to evaluate its current arrangements with customers and related performance obligations therein and when such performance
obligations are satisfied. Additionally the Company continues to evaluate the enhanced disclosure requirements under the new standard.
Note 2: Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accrued revenue, restricted cash,
accounts payable, certain accrued liabilities, and redeemable convertible preferred stock. The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments
approximates their recorded values due to their short period to maturity. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an
asset or an exit price paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The current accounting guidance for fair value measurements defines a three-level valuation
hierarchy for disclosures as follows:
Level I—Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level II—Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level I that are observable, unadjusted quoted prices in markets that are not
active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.
Level III—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity, requiring the Company to develop its own assumptions.
The categorization of a financial instrument within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The Company’s financial instruments consist of Level I and Level II assets and liabilities. Level I assets include highly
liquid money market funds that are included in cash and cash equivalents and Level II assets include certificates of deposit that are included as
short-term investments, interest rate lock commitments ("IRLCs") and forward sales commitments, included in other current assets and other
current liabilities. The certificates of deposit are measured by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
Interest rate lock commitments and forward sales commitments are measured by observable marketplace prices. The Company’s
redeemable convertible preferred stock is categorized as Level III. Redeemable convertible preferred stock is valued at each reporting date based
on unobservable inputs and management’s judgment due to the absence of quoted market prices, inherent lack of liquidity and the long-term
nature of such financial instruments.
The Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock is measured at fair value using a weighted average of the probability weighted
expected return method (“PWERM”), the income approach, and the market approach. Specifically, the income and market approach models are
weighted in relation
8
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to the probability of a private company scenario, whereas the PWERM method is weighted in relation to the probability of future exit scenarios.
The income approach incorporates the use of the discounted cash flow method, whereas the market approach incorporates the use of the
guideline public company method. Application of the discounted cash flow method requires estimating the annual cash flows that the business
enterprise is expected to generate in the future with the application of a discount rate and terminal value. In the guideline public company method,
valuation multiples, including total invested capital, are calculated based on financial statements and stock price data from selected guideline
publicly traded companies. A comparative analysis is then performed for factors including, but not limited to size, profitability and growth to
determine fair value.
Under the PWERM, value is determined based upon an analysis of future values for the enterprise under different potential outcomes
(e.g., sale, merger, an IPO, dissolution). The value determined for the enterprise is allocated then allocated to each class of stock based upon the
assumption that each class will look to maximize its value. The values determined for each class of stock under each scenario are weighted by
the probability of each scenario and then discounted to a present value.
Any change in the fair value is recognized as accretion expense (income) and included as an adjustment to net loss to arrive at net
income (loss) attributable to common stock on the condensed consolidated statements of operations. Summary of changes in fair value are
reflected in the condensed consolidated balance sheets, condensed consolidated statements of changes in redeemable convertible preferred stock
and stockholders' deficit, and Note 6. The Company did not perform full valuation for the redeemable convertible preferred stock during the three
months ended June 30, 2017, but rather determined the value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock as of June 30, 2017 by interpolating
between the value as of March 31, 2017 and the value of the common stock at the price offered in the initial public offering.
Significant unobservable inputs used in the determination of fair value of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock included
the following:
Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2016

2017

2016

2017

Income approach (private company)

15.0%

N/A

15.0%

12.5%

Market approach (private company)

15.0%

N/A

15.0%

12.5%

PWERM (IPO)

52.5%

N/A

52.5%

60.0%

PWERM (M&A)

17.5%

N/A

17.5%

15.0%

3.0x-4.0x

N/A

3.0x-4.5x

2.8x-3.0x

28.0%-40.0%

N/A

28.0%-40.9%

31.1%-40.0x

20.0%

N/A

20.0%-25.0%

20.0%

Valuation methodology:

IPO revenue multiple
Forecasted revenue growth rate
Discount rate

A summary of assets, (liabilities), and (mezzanine equity) at December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017, related to our financial instruments,
measured at fair value on a recurring basis, is set forth below:
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Fair Value
Financial Instrument

Fair Value Hierarchy

December 31, 2016

June 30, 2017

Money market funds (included in cash and cash equivalents)

Level I

46,357

22,930

Certificates of deposit (included in short-term investments)

Level II

1,749

1,504

Interest rate lock commitments

Level II

—

Redeemable convertible preferred stock (mezzanine equity)

Level III

2

(655,416)

(791,106)

Note 3: Property and Equipment:
A summary of property and equipment at December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017 is as follows:
December 31,
2016

June 30, 2017

Shorter of lease term or economic
life

$4,911

$15,350

1-3

10,114

12,146

Computer and office equipment

3

2,846

3,350

Software

3

1,367

1,367

Furniture

7

2,406

2,836

Useful Lives
(years)
Leasehold improvements
Website and software development costs

Construction in progress

10,856

—

32,500

35,049

Accumulated depreciation and amortization

(13,274)

(12,912)

Property and equipment, net

$19,226

$22,137

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment amounted to $1,382 and $1,512 for the three months ended June 30,
2016 and 2017, respectively, and $2,691 and $3,295 for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively.
Note 4: Acquired Intangible Assets:
The following table presents the detail of intangible assets subject to amortization as of the dates presented:
December 31, 2016
Useful
Live
(years)
Trade Names

10

Developed technology

10

Customer relationships

10

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
$

1,040

$

(234)

2,980
4,880

Net
$

(670)

860
$

June 30, 2017

(1,098)

806

$

2,310

(194)
$

3,782

1,040

$

2,980

666
$

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross

4,880

Net
$

(820)

860
$

(286)
(237)

$

(1,343)

754
2,160
624

$

3,538

Acquired intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful life, which approximates the expected
use of these assets. Amortization expense amounted to $122 and $122 for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively and
$244 and $244 for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively. Amortization expense of $2,440 will be recognized over the next
five years, or $488 per year.
10
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Note 5: Operating Segments:
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to make operating decisions, allocate resources and in assessing
performance. The Company has five operating segments and one reportable segment, real estate. Real estate revenue is derived from
commissions and fees charged on real estate transactions closed by us or partner agents. Other revenue consists of fees charged for title and
settlement services, mortgage banking operations, marketing services provided to homebuilders by the Company’s builder services group, Walk
Score licensing and advertising fees, homes sold through Redfin Now, and other services. The Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive Officer.
The CODM evaluates the performance of the Company’s operating segments based on revenue and gross profit. The Company does not analyze
discrete segment balance sheet information related to long-term assets, all of which are located in the United States. All other financial information
is presented on a consolidated basis.
Information on each of the reportable and other segments and reconciliation to consolidated net income (loss) is as follows:
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016

Six Months Ended June 30,
2017

2016

2017

Real estate
Revenue

$

75,649

Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$

100,658

48,293

$

116,006

63,436

$

159,030

85,022

114,592

$

27,356

$

37,222

$

30,984

$

44,438

$

2,065

$

4,277

$

3,343

$

5,772

$

(1,103)

Other
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

2,010

4,539

$

55

$

$

77,714

$

(262)

3,786
$

(443)

6,875

Consolidated
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$

27,411

Operating expenses
Net income (loss)

104,935

50,303
$

36,960

26,072
$

1,388

$

119,349

67,975
$

30,541

32,688
$

4,304

$

164,802

88,808

121,467
$

43,335

$

(23,762)

53,567
$

(22,893)

67,186

Real estate revenue consisted of the following:
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016

Six Months Ended June 30,
2017

2016

2017

Real estate revenue
Brokerage revenue

$

Partner revenue
Total real estate revenue

71,401

$

4,248
$

75,649

$

5,589
$

Note 6: Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit:
11

95,069
100,658

109,388

$

149,540

$

159,030

6,618
$

116,006

9,490
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Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock—Redeemable convertible preferred stock is issuable in one or more series, each with such
designations, rights, qualifications, limitations, and restrictions as the board of directors of the Company may determine at the time of issuance.
As of December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017, the Company had outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock as follows:
As of December 31, 2016
Shares Authorized

Shares Issued and
Outstanding

Aggregate Liquidation
Preference

Proceeds, Net of
Issuance Costs

Series A-1

4,378,284

1,459,427

500,000

Series A-2

109,552

36,517

11,000

462,000
11,000

Series A-3

9,099,610

3,033,202

259,000

241,000

Series B

36,338,577

12,112,853

7,998,000

7,952,000

Series C

33,388,982

11,129,656

12,000,000

11,950,000

Series D

28,574,005

9,524,665

10,269,000

10,201,000

Series E

12,041,148

4,013,712

14,924,000

14,841,000

Series F

20,808,580

6,936,186

50,536,000

50,453,000

Series G

21,527,376

7,175,784

70,991,000

68,062,000

Total

166,266,114

55,422,002

167,488,000

164,173,000

As of June 30, 2017
Shares Authorized

Shares Issued and
Outstanding

Aggregate
Liquidation Preference

Proceeds, Net of
Issuance Costs

Series A-1

4,378,284

1,459,427

500,000

Series A-2

109,552

36,517

11,000

462,000
11,000

Series A-3

9,099,610

3,033,202

259,000

241,000

Series B

36,338,577

12,112,853

7,998,000

7,952,000

Series C

33,388,982

11,129,656

12,000,000

11,950,000

Series D

28,574,005

9,524,665

10,269,000

10,201,000

Series E

12,041,148

4,013,712

14,924,000

14,841,000

Series F

20,808,580

6,936,186

50,536,000

50,453,000

Series G

21,527,376

7,175,784

70,991,000

68,062,000

Total

166,266,114

55,422,002

167,488,000

164,173,000

The terms of all redeemable convertible preferred stock are summarized below:
Conversion—Each share of redeemable convertible preferred stock is convertible at the option of the holder into such number of common
stock as is determined by dividing the original issue price by the conversion price in effect at the time of conversion. The original issue prices,
adjusted for the reverse split, are as follows: $0.3426 for Series A-1 preferred, $0.2913 for Series A-2 preferred, $0.0855 for Series A-3 preferred,
$0.6603 for Series B preferred, $1.0782 for Series C preferred, $1.0782 for Series D preferred, $3.7182 for Series E preferred, $7.2858 for Series F
preferred, and $9.8931 for Series G preferred. Under the terms of the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, redeemable
convertible preferred stock shall be automatically converted into shares of common stock upon the occurrence of specific events, including a firm
commitment underwritten public offering with aggregate net proceeds of not less than $50,000.
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Liquidation Preference—In the event of a voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the Company, the holders of
redeemable convertible preferred stock will be entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets of the Company to
the holders of common stock, an amount per share equal to the greater of (1) the original issue price (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,
reclassifications, and the like) for each share of redeemable convertible preferred stock held by them, plus declared but unpaid dividends, and (2)
the amount such holder would have received if, immediately prior to such event, such holder had converted such share of redeemable convertible
preferred stock into common stock. After payment of all preferential amounts, the remaining assets shall be distributed ratably among all holders
of common stock on a pro rata basis based on the number of shares of common stock outstanding held by each such holder.
Redemption—At any time after December 15, 2021, the holders of not less than 67% of outstanding redeemable convertible preferred
stock may request the Company to redeem all the outstanding shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock by paying in cash a sum per
share with respect to each share of redeemable convertible preferred stock equal to the greater of (1) the original issue price of each share of
preferred stock plus all declared but unpaid dividends or (2) the fair market value of each share of redeemable convertible preferred stock as
determined by an appraisal performed by an independent third party approved by holders of at least 67% of the then outstanding shares of
redeemable convertible preferred stock and the Company.
Accretion represents the (increase) or decrease in the redemption value of the Company’s redeemable convertible preferred stock. For the
three and six months ended June 30, 2016, the fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock declined, resulting in accretion income.
The recognized accretion related to the increase or decrease in the redemption value of the redeemable convertible preferred stock is reclassed
upon the successful completion of an initial public offering, which occurred subsequent to the period ended June 30, 2017. On August 2, 2017 the
Company completed an IPO.
The following table presents the accretion income/(expense) of the redeemable convertible preferred stock to its redemption value
recorded within the consolidated statements of changes in redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit during the periods
presented:
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
Series A-1

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2017

1,620

$

2016
(3,085)

$

2017
1,535

$

(3,785)

Series A-2

41

(77)

38

(95)

Series A-3

3,275

(6,478)

3,192

(7,843)

Series B

13,443

(25,601)

13,111

(31,052)

Series C

12,352

(23,523)

11,707

(28,531)

Series D

10,571

(20,131)

10,019

(24,417)

Series E

4,695

(8,130)

4,342

(9,936)

Series F

8,322

(12,522)

7,292

(15,643)

Series G
Total

10,763
$

65,082

(11,374)
$

(110,921)

8,633
$

59,869

(14,388)
$

(135,690)

Voting—The holder of each share of redeemable convertible preferred stock has the right to one vote for each full share of common stock
into which its respective shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock would be convertible on the record date for the vote.
Dividends—The holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock are entitled to receive noncumulative dividends out of any funds legally
available, prior and in preference to any declaration or payment of any dividends to holders of common stock. Dividends are payable when, as and
if declared by
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the board of directors at a rate of $0.0273 per share for Series A-1 preferred, $0.0234 per share for Series A-2 preferred, $0.0069 per share for
Series A-3 preferred, $0.0528 per share for Series B preferred, $0.0864 per share for Series C preferred and Series D preferred, $0.2976 per share
for Series E preferred, $0.5829 per share for Series F preferred, and $0.7914 per share Series G preferred, per year (as adjusted for stock splits,
stock dividends, reclassifications and the like). The holders of the redeemable convertible preferred stock also shall be entitled to participate pro
rata in any dividends or other distributions paid on the common stock on an as-if-converted basis.
Common Stock—At December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017, the Company was authorized to issue 290,081,638 shares of common stock
with a par value of $0.001 per share.
The Company has reserved shares of common stock, on an as-converted basis, for future issuance as follows:
December 31,

June 30,

2016

2017

Redeemable convertible preferred stock outstanding

55,422,002

55,422,002

Stock options issued and outstanding

13,291,684

13,782,401

Shares available for future equity grants
Total

4,941,504

4,148,810

73,655,190

73,353,213

Note 7: Stock-based Compensation:
On November 5, 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended to date, the “Plan”), which provides for the
issuance of incentive and nonqualified common stock options to employees, directors, officers, and consultants of the Company. Subsequent to
adoption, the Company amended the Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance to 29,883,863. The term of
each option shall be no more than 10 years. The options generally vest over a four-year period.
The grant-date fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model. The
inputs used below are subjective and generally require significant analysis and judgment to develop. The Company has not declared or paid any
cash dividends and does not currently expect to do so in the future. The risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing
model is based on the implied yield currently available in U.S. Treasury securities at maturity with an equivalent term. Expected volatility is based
on an average volatility of stock prices for a group of real estate and technology industry peers. The Company uses the “simplified method” to
calculate expected life due to the lack of historical exercise data, which assumes a ratable rate of exercise over the contractual life to estimate the
expected term for employee options. The expected term of options represents the period that the stock-based awards are expected to be
outstanding for the remaining unexercised shares. The range of assumptions for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, are
provided in the following table:
Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2016

2017

2016

2017

Expected life

7 years

7 years

7 years

7 years

Volatility

39.81%

40.97%

39.81%-41.36%

37.88%-40.97%

Risk-free interest rate

1.51%

1.96%

1.51%-1.66%

1.96%-2.26%

Dividend yield

—%

—%

—%

—%

Weighted-average grant date fair value

3.96

4.89

3.99

4.86

14

Table of Contents
The following table presents information regarding options granted, exercised, forfeited, or cancelled for the periods presented:

Weighted- Average
Exercise Price

Number Of Options
Outstanding at December 31, 2016

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Life
(years)

13,291,684

$

5.85

Options granted

1,137,046

10.78

Options exercised

(301,622)

3.37

Options forfeited or canceled

(344,707)

8.01

Outstanding at June 30, 2017

13,782,401
7,827,279

Options exercisable at June 30, 2017

$

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value

7.74

$

61,774
2,294

6.26

7.46

4.38

6.34

65,065
$

51,683

The following table presents the detail of stock-based compensation amounts included in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations for the periods indicated below:
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
Cost of revenue

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2017

525

$

2016
699

$

2017
1,043

$

1,414

Technology and development

559

751

1,098

Marketing

112

123

221

242

General and administrative

718

1,065

1,372

2,182

Total stock-based compensation

$

1,914

$

2,638

$

3,734

1,482

$

5,320

There was $24,166 of total unrecognized stock-based compensation related to unvested stock option arrangements granted under the
Plan as June 30, 2017.
Note 8: Net Income (Loss) per Share Attributable to Common Stock:
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stock is computed by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common stock by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. The Company has outstanding stock options and redeemable convertible preferred
stock, which are included in the calculation of diluted net income (loss) attributable to common stock per share whenever doing so would be
dilutive.
The Company calculates basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stock in conformity with the two-class
method required for companies with participating securities. The Company considers all series of redeemable convertible preferred stock to be
participating securities. Under the two-class method, net loss attributable to common stock is not allocated to the redeemable convertible preferred
stock as the holders of redeemable convertible preferred stock do not have a contractual obligation to share in losses.
Diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stock is computed by giving effect to all potential dilutive common stock
equivalents outstanding for the period. For purposes of this calculation, redeemable convertible preferred stock and options to purchase common
stock are considered anti-dilutive securities for all periods ended June 30, 2017. For the periods ended June 30, 2016 the inclusion of the
Company's redeemable convertible preferred stock was dilutive. For the periods ended June 30, 2016 the fair value of the redeemable convertible
preferred stock declined, resulting in accretion income. The if-converted method of calculating earnings per share resulted in undistributed earnings
attributable to participating securities, and conversion of redeemable convertible
preferred stock occurring at the beginning of the period. The undistributed earnings attributable to participating securities do not represent a
distribution to existing stockholders' paid out of offering proceeds. Options were excluded in the calculation of weighted average shares used to
compute diluted income (loss) for all periods presented except the three months ended June 30, 2016.
The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stock during the
periods presented:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2016

Six Months Ended June 30,

2017

2016

2017

Numerator:
Net income (loss)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock
Undistributed earnings attributable to participating securities

$

1,388
65,082
(52,805)

$

4,304
(110,921)
—

$

(22,893)
59,869
(29,397)

$

(23,762)
(135,690)
—

Net income (loss) attributable to common stock—basic

13,665

(106,617)

7,579

(159,452)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stock—diluted

1,388

(106,617)

(22,893)

(159,452)

Denominator:
Weighted average shares used to compute net income (loss) per share
attributable to common stock—basic

14,340,333

Weighted average shares used to compute net income (loss) per share
attributable to common stock—diluted

14,913,234

74,080,026

14,288,550

14,913,234

14,840,759

69,710,552

14,840,759

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stock—basic

$

0.95

$

(7.15)

$

0.53

$

(10.74)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stock—diluted

$

0.02

$

(7.15)

$

(0.33)

$

(10.74)

(1) A reconciliation of net income (loss) attributable to common stock—basic
to net income (loss) attributable to common stock—diluted is as follows:
Net income (loss) attributable to common stock—basic

$

13,665

Add-back: Accretion due to application of if-converted
Add-back: Undistributed earnings attributable to participating securities due to
application of if-converted
Net income (loss) attributable to common stock—diluted

$

7,579

(65,082)

(59,869)

52,805
$

29,397

1,388

$

(22,893)

The following outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of the diluted net income (loss) per
share attributable to common stock for the periods presented because their effect would have been anti-dilutive:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2016
Redeemable convertible preferred stock
Options outstanding
Total

2017
—

55,422,002

Six Months Ended June 30,
2016

2017
—

55,422,002

4,205,443

13,782,401

11,614,015

13,782,401

4,205,443

69,204,403

11,614,015

69,204,403

Note 9: Income Taxes:
The Company’s effective tax rate for the three and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 was 0% as a result of the Company
recording a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets.
In determining the realizability of the net U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets, the Company considers numerous factors including
historical profitability, estimated future taxable income, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies and the industry in which it operates.
Management reassesses the realization of the deferred tax assets each reporting period, which resulted in a valuation allowance against the full
amount of the Company’s U.S. deferred tax assets for the three- and six-month periods ended June 30, 2016 and 2017. To the extent that the
financial results of the U.S. operations improve in the future and the deferred tax assets become realizable, the Company will reduce the valuation
allowance through earnings.
Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, substantial changes in the Company's ownership may limit the
amount of net operating loss carryforwards that could be utilized annually in the future to offset taxable income. Any such annual limitation may
significantly reduce the utilization of the net operating losses before they expire. A Section 382 limitation study performed as of March 31, 2017
determined there was an ownership change in 2006 and $1,538 of the 2006 net operating loss is unavailable.
Net operating loss carryforwards are available to offset federal taxable income and begin to expire in 2025. Net operating loss
carryforwards for states range from 5 to 20 years. As of December 31, 2016 the Company has accumulated approximately $84,973 of federal tax
losses and $4,133 (tax effected) of state tax losses.
The Company’s material income tax jurisdiction is the United States (federal). As a result of net operating loss carryforwards, the
Company is subject to audit for tax years 2005 and forward for federal purposes. There are tax years which remain subject to examination in
various other jurisdictions that are not material to the Company’s financial statements.

Note 10: Commitments and Contingencies:
Legal Proceedings—Third-party licensed sales associates filed three lawsuits against the Company in the Superior Court of the State of
California in 2013 and 2014. Two of the actions, which are pled as “class actions,” were removed to and are now pending in the Northern District of
California. One of these cases also includes representative claims under California’s Private Attorney General Act, Labor Code section 2698 et.
seq (“PAGA”). The third action is pending in the Los Angeles County Superior Court and asserts representative claims under PAGA. All three
complaints alleged that the Company had misclassified current and former third-party licensed sales associates in California as independent
contractors.
In March 2017, the Company entered into an agreement in principle to settle these lawsuits with an aggregate payment of $1,800 and in
June 2017, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to settle the lawsuits. The Company has recorded an accrual for $1,800 as of
December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017. The settlement agreement does not contain any admission of liability, wrongdoing, or responsibility by any
of the parties. The proposed settlement class contemplated by the agreement includes all current and former third party licensed sales associates
engaged by the Company in California from January 16, 2009, through April 29, 2017. This settlement agreement is subject to court approval. As
part of the settlement process, on August 18, 2017, the parties filed a Second Amended Complaint in Los Angeles County Superior Court to
consolidate all of the cases, and all other lawsuits and arbitrations regarding these claims have been stayed pending the outcome of efforts to
obtain final settlement approval.

The claims vary from case to case, but generally seek compensation for unpaid wages, overtime, and failure to provide meal and rest
periods, as well as reimbursement of business expenses.
As with all class action and representative litigation, these cases are inherently complex and subject to many uncertainties. In the event
the settlement is not approved, the actions may continue and
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a class may be certified. If that happens, there can be no assurance the plaintiffs will not seek substantial damage awards, penalties, attorneys’
fees, or other remedies. The Company believes it has complied with all applicable laws and regulations and that it properly classified the third-party
licensed sales associates as independent contractors.
In addition, from time to time, the Company is involved in litigation, claims and other proceedings arising in the ordinary course of
business. Such litigation and other proceedings may include, but are not limited to, actions relating to employment law, intellectual property, the
Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act of 1974, the Fair Housing Act of 1968, or other consumer protection statute claims, commercial or
contractual arrangements, brokerage- or real estate related-disputes, ordinary- course brokerage disputes like the failure to disclose property
defects, and vicarious liability based upon conduct of individuals or entities outside of the Company’s control, including partner agents and thirdparty contractor agents. Litigation and other disputes are inherently unpredictable and subject to substantial uncertainties and unfavorable
resolutions could occur. Often these cases raise complex factual and legal issues, which are subject to risks and uncertainties and could require
significant management time and resources.
Facility Leases and Other Commitments—The Company leases its office space under noncancelable operating leases with terms
ranging from one to 11 years. The leases require a fixed minimum rent with contractual minimum rent increases over the lease term, and certain
leases include escalation provisions. Rent expense totaled $1,159 and $1,679 for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively,
and $2,224 and $4,325 for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively. Other commitments primarily relate to network
infrastructure for the Company’s data operations and commitments for the Company’s annual employee meeting. Also included are homes that we
are under contract to purchase through Redfin Now but that have not closed. Future minimum payments due under these agreements as of
December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017 are as follows:
Facility Leases
December 31, 2016
2017

$

4,803

Other Commitments

June 30, 2017
$

2,974

December 31, 2016
$

2,123

June 30, 2017
$

3,251

2018

6,227

6,641

848

889

2019

6,652

7,041

—

—

2020

5,563

5,943

—

—

32,262

32,577

—

—

2021 and thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

$

55,507

$

55,176

$

2,971

$

4,140

Mortgage Warehouse and Master Repurchase Agreements—In December 2016, Redfin Mortgage entered into a Mortgage Warehouse
Agreement with Texas Capital Bank, National Association (“Texas Capital”) and in June 2017 Redfin Mortgage entered into a Master Repurchase
Agreement with Western Alliance Bank. Pursuant to the Mortgage Warehouse Agreement and Master Repurchase Agreement, Texas Capital and
Western Alliance Bank both agree to fund loans originated by Redfin Mortgage, in its discretion, up to $10,000 each in the aggregate and to take a
security interest in such loans. The per annum interest rate payable to Texas Capital is a fixed rate equal to the rate of interest accruing on the
outstanding principal balance of the loan, minus 1.5%, or 3.0%, whichever is higher. The per annum interest rate payable to Western Alliance Bank
is a fixed rate equal to the LIBOR rate plus 3.00%, or 3.75%, whichever is higher. For each loan in which Texas Capital elects to purchase a
participation interest, it will acquire an undivided 97% participation interest, by paying as the purchase price an amount equal to the participation
interest multiplied by the principal balance of the loan. For each loan in which Western Alliance Bank elects to purchase, it will acquire an
undivided 98% participation interest, by paying as the purchase price an amount equal to the participation interest multiplied by the principal
balance of the loan. If a loan is not sold to a correspondent lender, Texas Capital and Western Alliance Bank's participation interests in the loans
are to be repurchased in whole or in part by Redfin
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Mortgage. The Company has guaranteed Redfin Mortgage’s obligations under the Mortgage Warehouse and Master Repurchase Agreements.
The Mortgage Warehouse Agreement and Master Repurchase Agreements require each of the Company and Redfin Mortgage to maintain
certain financial covenants and to provide periodic financial and compliance reports. Redfin Mortgage failed to satisfy certain financial covenants
under both agreements as of June 30, 2017, but has not received a notice of default related to such failure from either Texas Capital or Western
Alliance Bank. As of December 31, 2016 and June 30, 2017, there were $0 and $529, respectively, outstanding under the Mortgage Warehouse
Agreement and no amounts drawn as of June 30, 2017 on the Master Repurchase Agreement.
Note 11: Accrued Liabilities:
The following table presents the detail of accrued liabilities as of the dates presented:
December 31,

June 30,

2016
Accrued compensation and benefits

$

2017
16,659

Legal fees and settlements

2,795

Miscellaneous accrued liabilities

2,799
$

Total accrued liabilities:

22,253

$

21,427
2,381
6,440

$

30,248

Note 12: Retirement Plan:
The Company adopted a 401(k) profit sharing plan effective January 2005. The plan covers eligible employees as of their hire date. The
401(k) component of the plan allows employees to elect to defer from 1% to 100% of their eligible compensation up to the federal limit per year.
Company- matching and profit-sharing contributions are discretionary and are determined annually by Company management and approved by the
board of directors. No matching or profit-sharing contributions were declared for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017 or for the six
months ended June 30, 2016 and 2017.
Note 13: Subsequent Events:
2017 Equity Incentive Plan and 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan—On July 12, 2017, the board of directors approved the 2017
Equity Incentive Plan (“2017 EIP”) and the 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2017 ESPP”). As of July 27, 2017, the maximum number of
shares of common stock available for future issuance under the Company’s stock-based compensation plans is 9,459,659 shares, consisting of
the following:
•

4,159,659 shares of common stock under the Amended and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as of July 27, 2017, which shares
were added to the shares reserved under the 2017 EIP in connection with the IPO;

•

3,700,000 shares of common stock under the 2017 EIP; and

•

1,600,000 shares of common stock under the 2017 ESPP.

For a period of 10 years, the 2017 EIP and 2017 ESPP provide for automatic annual increases in the number of shares available for future
issuance on the first day of each fiscal year beginning in 2018.
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Initial Public Offering—On August 2, 2017, the Company completed an IPO whereby 10,615,650 shares of common stock were sold at a
price of $15.00 per share, which included 1,384,650 shares pursuant to the underwriters' option allotment. The Company received net proceeds of
$144,143 after deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses directly attributable to the IPO. Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares of
the outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 55,422,002 shares of common stock on a one-for-one basis.
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ITEM 2: MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial
statements, the accompanying notes, other financial information included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our final
prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
on July 28, 2017. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties such as our plans, estimates,
and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forwardlooking statements below.The following discussion also
contains information using industry publications that generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources
believed to be reliable, but such information may not be accurate or complete. We have not independently verified any of the data from third-party
sources nor have we ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied on therein. We are not aware of any misstatements regarding the
industry, survey or research data provided herein, our estimates involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based upon various
factors. Factors that could cause or contribute to those differences in our actual results and factors that may affect industry, survey or research
data include, but are not limited to, those discussed below and those discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, particularly in
the sections “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” above and Part II, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” below.
In the below discussion, we use the term basis points to refer to units of one‑hundredth of one percent.
Overview
Redfin is a technology-powered, residential real estate brokerage. We represent people buying and selling homes in over 80 markets
throughout the United States. Our mission is to redefine real estate in the consumer’s favor. In a commission-driven industry, we put the customer
first. We do this by pairing our own agents with our own technology to create a service that is faster, better, and costs less.
On August 2, 2017, we completed our initial public offering, or IPO, in which we issued and sold 10,615,650 shares of our common stock
(including 1,384,650 shares pursuant to the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares) at a public offering price of $15.00 per share. The
aggregate gross proceeds were approximately $159.2 million. We received approximately $144.1 million in net proceeds after deducting
approximately $11.1 million of underwriting discounts and commissions and approximately $3.9 million in estimated offering costs. Upon the
closing of the IPO, all of the outstanding shares of our redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 55,422,002 shares of
common stock on a one-for-one basis. Subsequent to the closing of the IPO, there are no shares of preferred stock outstanding.
Key Business Metrics
In addition to the measures presented in our consolidated financial statements, we use the following key metrics to evaluate our business,
develop financial forecasts, and make strategic decisions.
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Jun. 30,
2015

Sep. 30,
2015

Dec. 31,
2015

Mar. 31,
2016

Jun. 30,
2016

Sep. 30,
2016

Dec. 31,
2016

Mar. 31,
2017

Jun. 30,
2017

12,381

13,060

11,142

13,987

17,021

17,795

16,058

20,162

24,400

Brokerage

5,465

5,653

4,510

4,005

7,497

7,934

6,432

5,692

10,221

Partner

2,456

2,718

2,273

1,936

2,602

2,663

2,281

2,041

2,874

7,921

8,371

6,783

5,941

10,099

10,597

8,713

7,733

13,095

Monthly average visitors (in thousands)
Real estate transactions:

Total
Real estate revenue per real estate transaction:
Brokerage

$

9,243

$

9,343

$

9,242

$

9,485

$

9,524

$

9,333

$

9,428

$

9,570

$

9,301

Partner

1,164

1,191

1,177

1,224

1,633

1,932

1,991

1,911

1,945

Aggregate

6,738

6,696

6,539

6,793

7,491

7,474

7,481

7,548

7,687

3,601

3,837

2,984

2,599

4,684

4,898

4,018

3,470

6,119

Aggregate home value of real estate transactions
(in millions)
U.S. market share by value
Revenue from top-10 Redfin markets as a
percentage of real
estate revenue
Average number of lead agents

0.44%

78%
568

0.46%

76%
621

0.46%

73%
667

0.48%

71%
743

0.53%

74%
756

0.57%

72%
756

0.56%

71%
796

0.58%

68%
935

0.64%

69%
1,010

Monthly Average Visitors
The number of, and growth in, visitors to our website and mobile application are important leading indicators of our business activity
because these channels are the primary ways we meet and serve customers. For a particular period, monthly average visitors refers to the
average of the number of unique visitors to our website and mobile application for each of the months in that period. Monthly average visitors are
influenced by market conditions that affect interest in buying or selling homes, the level and success of our marketing programs, and seasonality.
We believe we can continue to increase monthly visitors, which helps our growth.
Given the lengthy process to buy or sell a home, a visitor during one month may not convert to a revenue-generating customer until many
months later, if at all.
When we refer to "monthly average visitors" for a particular period, we are referring to the average number of unique visitors to our website
and mobile application for each of the months in that period, as measured by Google Analytics, a product that provides digital marketing
intelligence. Visitors are tracked by Google Analytics using cookies, with a unique cookie being assigned to each browser or mobile application on
a device. For any given month, we count all of the unique cookies that visited our website or either our iOS or Android mobile application during
that month; each such unique cookie is a unique visitor. If a person accesses our mobile application using different devices within a given month
each such mobile device is counted as a separate visitor for that month. If the same person accesses our website using an anonymous browser,
or clears or resets cookies on their device, each access with a new cookie is counted as a new unique visitor for that month.
Real Estate Transactions
Increasing the number of real estate transactions in which we or our partner agents represent homebuyers and home sellers is critical to
increasing our revenue and, in turn, to achieving profitability. Real estate transactions are influenced by pricing for our services as well as market
conditions that affect home sales, such as local inventory levels and mortgage interest rates. Real estate transactions are also
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affected by seasonality and macroeconomic factors. We include a single transaction twice when we or our partner agents serve both the
homebuyer and the home seller of a transaction.
Real Estate Revenue per Real Estate Transaction
Real estate revenue per real estate transaction, together with the number of real estate transactions, is a factor in evaluating business
growth and determining pricing. Changes in revenue per real estate transaction can be affected by our pricing, the mix of transactions for
homebuyers and home sellers, changes in the value of homes in the markets we serve, the geographic mix of our transactions, and the
transactions we refer to partner agents. We generally generate more real estate revenue per brokerage transaction from representing homebuyers
than home sellers.
We calculate real estate revenue per real estate transaction by dividing brokerage, partner, or aggregate revenue, as applicable, by the
corresponding number of real estate transactions in any period.
Aggregate Home Value of Real Estate Transactions
The aggregate home value of real estate transactions completed by our lead agents and of the real estate transactions we refer to partner
agents is an important indicator of the health of our business because our revenue is largely based on a percentage of each home’s sale price.
This metric is affected by changes in home values in the markets we serve and by changes in the number of customers who use our services as
well as seasonality and macroeconomic factors. We include the value of a single transaction twice when we or our partner agents serve both the
homebuyer and home seller of a transaction.
U.S. Market Share by Value
Increasing our U.S. market share by value is critical to our ability to grow our business and achieve profitability over the long term. We
believe there is a significant opportunity to increase our share in the markets we currently serve.
We calculate the aggregate value of U.S. home sales by multiplying the total number of U.S. home sales by the mean sale price of these
sales, each as reported by the National Association of Realtors. We calculate our market share by aggregating the home value of real estate
transactions conducted by our lead agents or our partner agents. Then, in order to account for both the sell- and buy-side components of each
transaction, we divide that value by two-times the estimated aggregate value of U.S. home sales.
Revenue from Top-10 Markets as a Percentage of Real Estate Revenue
Our top-10 markets by real estate revenue are the metropolitan areas of Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles, Maryland, Orange County,
Portland, San Diego, San Francisco, Seattle, and Virginia. We plan to continue to diversify our growth and to increase our market share in our
newer markets. We expect our revenue from top-10 markets to decline as a percentage of our real estate revenue over time.
Average Number of Lead Agents
The average number of lead agents, in combination with our other key metrics such as the number of brokerage transactions, is a basis
for calculating agent productivity and is one indicator of the potential future growth of our business. We systematically evaluate traffic to our
website and mobile application and customer activity to anticipate changes in customer demand to determine when and where to hire lead agents.
We calculate the average number of lead agents by taking the average of the number of lead agents at the end of each month included in
the period.
Components of Our Results of Operations
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Revenue
We generate revenue primarily from commissions and fees charged on real estate transactions closed by us or partner agents, as well as
from other services we provide.
Real Estate Revenue
Brokerage Revenue. Brokerage revenue consists of commissions earned on real estate transactions closed by our lead agents. We
recognize commission-based revenue on the closing of a transaction, less the amount of any commission refund or any closing-cost reduction,
commission discount, or transaction-fee adjustment. Brokerage revenue is affected by the number of real estate transactions we close, the mix of
brokerage transactions, home-sale prices, commission rates, and the amount we give to customers.
Partner Revenue. Partner revenue consists of fees partner agents pay us when they close referred transactions, less the amount of any
payments we make to customers. We recognize these fees as revenue on the closing of a transaction. Partner revenue is affected by the number
of partner transactions closed, home sale prices, commission rates, and the amount we give to customers.
Other Revenue
Other revenue consists of fees charged for title and settlement services, mortgage banking operations, marketing services provided to
home builders by our builder services group, licensing and analytics fees from our Walk Score service, homes sold by Redfin Now, and other
services. Revenue is recognized when the service is provided. Redfin Now is our experimental new service where we buy homes directly from
home sellers and resell them to homebuyers. Revenue earned from homes previously purchased by Redfin Now is recorded at closing on a gross
basis, representing the sales price of the home.
Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin
Cost of revenue consists primarily of personnel costs (including base pay and benefits), stock- based compensation, transaction bonuses,
home touring and field expenses, listing expenses, business expenses, facilities expenses, and, for Redfin Now, the cost of homes including the
purchase price and capitalized improvements.
Gross profit is revenue less cost of revenue. Gross margin is gross profit expressed as a percentage of revenue. Our gross margin has
and will continue to be affected by a number of factors, including real estate revenue per real estate transaction and the productivity of our lead
agents and support staff.
Operating Expenses
Technology and Development
Technology and development expenses relate primarily to developing new software used by our customers and internal teams, making
enhancements to our existing software, and maintaining and improving our website and mobile application. These expenses consist primarily of
personnel costs, stock-based compensation, data licenses, software, and equipment, and infrastructure such as for data centers and hosted
services. Technology and development expenses also include amortization of capitalized internal-use software and website and mobile application
development costs.
Marketing
Marketing expenses consist primarily of media costs for online and traditional advertising, as well as personnel costs and stock-based
compensation.
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General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, stock-based compensation, facilities, and related expenses for
our executive, finance, human resources, facilities and legal organizations, and fees for professional services. Professional services are principally
comprised of external legal, audit, and tax services.
Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented and as a percentage of our revenue for those periods. The
period-to-period comparisons of our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in the future.
Three Months Ended June 30,
2016

Six Months Ended June 30,

2017

2016

2017

(in thousands)
Revenue

$

77,714

$

104,935

$

119,349

$

164,802

Cost of revenue(1)

50,303

67,975

88,808

121,467

Gross profit

27,411

36,960

30,541

43,335

Technology and development(1)

8,060

10,090

15,958

19,762

Marketing(1)

8,486

10,132

17,697

20,591

General and administrative(1)

9,526

12,466

19,912

26,833

Total operating expenses

26,072

32,688

53,567

67,186

1,339

4,272

(23,026)

(23,851)

Operating expenses:

Income (loss) from operations
Total interest income and other income, net
Net income (loss)
(1) Includes

49
$

1,388

32
$

4,304

133
$

(22,893)

89
$

(23,762)

stock-based compensation as follows:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2016

Six Months Ended June 30,

2017

2016

2017

(in thousands)
Cost of revenue

$

525

$

699

$

1,043

$

1,414

Technology and development

559

751

1,098

1,482

Marketing

112

123

221

242

General and administrative
Total

718
$

1,914
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1,065
$

2,638

1,372
$

3,734

2,182
$

5,320

Table of Contents
Three Months Ended June 30,
2016
Revenue

Six Months Ended June 30,

2017

2016

2017

100.0%

100.0%

Cost of revenue(1)

64.7

64.8

100.0 %
74.4

100.0 %
73.7

Gross profit

35.3

35.2

25.6

26.3

Technology and development(1)

10.4

9.6

13.4

12.0

Marketing(1)

10.9

9.7

14.8

12.5

General and administrative(1)

12.3

11.9

16.7

16.3

Total operating expenses

33.5

31.2

44.9

40.8

Income (loss) from operations

1.7

4.1

(19.3)

(14.5)

Total interest income and other income, net

0.1

Net income (loss)

1.8%

Operating expenses:

(1) Includes

—

0.1

0.1

4.1%

(19.2)%

(14.4)%

stock-based compensation as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30,
2016

Six Months Ended June 30,

2017

2016

2017

(as a percentage of revenue)
Cost of revenue

0.7%

0.7%

0.9%

0.9%

Technology and development

0.7

0.7

0.9

0.9

Marketing

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

General and administrative

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.3

2.4%

2.5%

3.1%

3.2%

Total

Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2017
Revenue
Three Months Ended June 30,
2016

Change

2017

Dollars

Percentage

Percentage (in thousands, except percentages)
Real estate revenue:
Brokerage revenue

$

Partner revenue
Total real estate revenue
Other revenue
Revenue

$

71,401

$

95,069

$

23,668

5,589

1,341

75,649

100,658

25,009

33

2,065

4,277

2,212

107

27,221

35

77,714

$

104,935

$

Percentage of revenue
Real estate revenue:
Brokerage
Partner revenue
Total real estate revenue
Other revenue
Revenue

33%

4,248

91.9%

90.6%

5.5

5.3

97.3

95.9

2.7

4.1

100.0%

100.0%

In the three months ended June 30, 2017, revenue increased by $27.2 million, or 35%, as compared with the same period in 2016.
Brokerage revenue represented $23.7 million, or 87%, of the
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increase. Brokerage revenue grew 33% during the period, driven by a 36% increase in brokerage real estate transactions and a 2% decrease in
real estate revenue per brokerage transaction. The increase in brokerage transactions was attributable to higher levels of customer awareness of
Redfin and increasing customer demand and market share in most of our markets. The decrease in real estate revenue per brokerage transactions
was due to a mix shift to lower-revenue transactions from home sellers. Other revenue increased $2.2 million, or 107%, as compared with the
same period in 2016. $2.0 million of the $2.2 million increase was attributed to Redfin Now.
Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin
Three Months Ended June 30,
2016

Change

2017

Dollars

Percentage

(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of revenue
Real estate

$

Other

48,293

$

2,010

Total cost of revenue

63,436

$

4,539

15,143

31 %

2,529

126
35

$

50,303

$

67,975

$

17,672

$

27,356

$

37,222

$

9,866

$

27,411

$

36,960

$

9,549

Gross profit
Real estate
Other

55

Total gross profit

(262)

(317)

36 %
(576)
35

Gross margin (percentage of revenue)
Real estate
Other
Total gross margin

36.2%

37.0 %

2.6

(6.1)

35.3

35.2

In the three months ended June 30, 2017, total cost of revenue increased by $17.7 million, or 35%, as compared with the same period in
2016. This increase in cost of revenue was primarily attributable to a $6.5 million increase in personnel costs due to increased lead agent and
related support-staff headcount, a $4.2 million increase in transaction bonuses, a $3.0 million increase in home touring and field costs and a $1.8
million increase in the cost of homes purchased through Redfin Now.
Total gross margin decreased five basis points for the three months ended June 30, 2017 as compared with the same period in 2016.
Real estate gross margin increased 82 basis points for the three months ended June 30, 2017 as compared with the same period in 2016.
This was primarily attributable to a 65 basis point reduction in transaction bonuses, a 35 basis point reduction in local operating expenses and a 28
basis point reduction in listing expenses, each as a percentage of revenue. This was partially offset by a 29 basis point increase in occupancy
expenses.
Other gross margin decreased 874 basis points for the three months ended June 30, 2017 as compared with the same period in 2016. This
was primarily attributable to a 4,239 basis point increase in the cost of homes, resulting from the sale of homes purchased through Redfin Now.
Operating Expenses
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Three Months Ended June 30,
2016

Change

2017

Dollars

Percentage

(in thousands, except percentages)
Technology and development

$

8,060

2,030

25%

Marketing

8,486

10,132

1,646

19

General and administrative

9,526

12,466

2,940

31

6,616

25

$

Total operating expenses

$

26,072

10,090

$

$

32,688

$

Percentage of revenue
Technology and development

10.4%

Marketing

10.9

9.7

General and administrative

12.3

11.9

33.6%

31.2%

Total operating expenses

9.6%

In the three months ended June 30, 2017, technology and development expenses increased by $2.0 million, or 25%, as compared with the
same period in 2016. The increase was primarily attributable to a $1.8 million increase in personnel costs and stock-based compensation due to
increased headcount.
In the three months ended June 30, 2017, marketing expenses increased by $1.6 million, or 19%, as compared with the same period in
2016. The increase was primarily attributable to a $2.0 million increase in marketing media costs as we expanded advertising. The increase was
partially offset by a $0.5 million decrease in the use of outside production services.
In the three months ended June 30, 2017, general and administrative expenses increased by $2.9 million, or 31%, as compared with the
same period in 2016. The increase was attributable to a $1.7 million increase in personnel costs and stock-based compensation, largely the result
of increases in headcount to support continued growth, a $0.9 million increase in contract services, and a $0.4 million increase in occupancy and
office expenses.
Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 and 2017
Revenue

Six Months Ended June 30,
2016

2017

Real estate revenue:
Brokerage revenue

Dollars

Percentage

Percentage (in thousands, except percentages)
$

Partner revenue
Total real estate revenue
Other revenue
Revenue

Change

$

109,388

$

149,540

$

40,152

37%

6,618

9,490

2,872

43

116,006

159,030

43,024

37

3,343

5,772

2,429

73

45,453

38

119,349

$

164,802

$

Percentage of revenue
Real estate revenue:
Brokerage
Partner revenue
Total real estate revenue
Other revenue
Revenue

91.7%

90.7%

5.5

5.8

97.2

96.5

2.8

3.5

100.0%

100.0%

In the six months ended June 30, 2017, revenue increased by $45.5 million, or 38%, as compared with the same period in 2016.
Brokerage revenue represented $40.2 million, or 88%, of the increase.
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Brokerage revenue grew 36.7% during the period, driven by a 38% increase in brokerage real estate transactions and a 1% decrease in real estate
revenue per brokerage transaction. The increase in brokerage transactions was attributable to higher levels of customer awareness of Redfin and
increasing customer demand and market share in most of our markets. The decrease in real estate revenue per brokerage transactions was due to
a mix shift to lower-revenue transactions from home sellers. Other revenue increased $2.4 million, or 73%, as compared with the same period in
2016. $2.0 million of the $2.4 million increase was attributed to Redfin Now.
Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin
Six Months Ended June 30,
2016

Change

2017

Dollars

Percentage

(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of revenue
Real estate

$

Other
Total cost of revenue

85,022

$

3,786

114,592

$

6,875

29,570

35%

3,089

82
37

$

88,808

$

121,467

$

32,659

$

30,984

$

44,438

$

13,454

Gross profit
Real estate
Other
Total gross profit

(443)
$

30,541

(1,103)
$

43,335

(660)
$

12,794

43%
149
42

Gross margin (percentage of revenue)
Real estate
Other
Total gross margin

26.7 %

27.9 %

(13.3)

(19.1)

25.6

26.3

In the six months ended June 30, 2017, cost of revenue increased by $32.7 million, or 37%, as compared with the same period in 2016.
This increase in cost of revenue was primarily attributable to a $12.7 million increase in personnel costs due to increased lead agent and related
support staff headcount, a $7.4 million increase in transaction bonuses, a $5.6 million increase in home touring and field costs, a $2.3 million
increase in office and occupancy expenses and a $1.8 million increase in the cost of homes purchased through Redfin Now.
Total gross margin increased 71 basis points for the six months ended June 30, 2017 as compared with the same period in 2016.
Real estate gross margin increased 123 basis points for the six months ended June 30, 2017 as compared with the same period in 2016.
This was primarily attributable to a 52 basis point reduction in personnel costs, a 50 basis point reduction in transaction bonuses, a 39 basis point
reduction in local operating expenses, and a 22 basis point reduction in home touring and field costs, each as a percentage of revenue. This
reduction was partially offset by a 57 basis point increase in the occupancy expenses.
Other gross margin decreased 584 basis points for the three months ended June 30, 2017 as compared with the same period in 2016. This
was primarily attributable to a 3,141 basis point increase in the cost of homes, resulting from the sale of homes purchased through Redfin Now.
Operating Expenses
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Six Months Ended June 30,
2016

Change

2017

Dollars

Percentage

(in thousands, except percentages)
Technology and development

3,804

24%

Marketing

17,697

20,591

2,894

16

General and administrative

19,912

26,833

6,921

35

13,619

25

Total operating expenses

$

$

15,958

53,567

$

$

19,762

67,186

$

$

Percentage of revenue
Technology and development

13.4%

12.0%

Marketing

14.8

12.5

General and administrative

16.7

16.3

44.9%

40.8%

Total operating expenses

In the six months ended June 30, 2017, technology and development expenses increased by $3.8 million, or 24%, as compared with the
same period in 2016. The increase was primarily attributable to a $3.5 million increase in personnel costs and stock-based compensation due to
increased headcount.
In the six months ended June 30, 2017, marketing expenses increased by $2.9 million, or 16%, as compared with the same period in
2016. The increase was primarily attributable to a $2.9 million increase in marketing media costs as we expanded advertising and a $0.3 million
increase in personnel costs. The increase was partially offset by a $0.6 million decrease in the use of outside production services.
In the six months ended June 30, 2017, general and administrative expenses increased by $6.9 million, or 35%, as compared with the
same period in 2016. The increase was attributable to a $3.4 million increase in personnel costs and stock-based compensation, largely the result
of increases in headcount to support continued growth, a $1.8 million increase in contract services, and a $1.0 million increase in occupancy and
office expenses.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
To date, our principal sources of liquidity have been the net proceeds we received through private sales of our equity securities. From our
inception through June 30, 2017, we completed several rounds of sales of shares of our redeemable convertible preferred stock to investors
representing total gross proceeds of approximately $167.5 million.
In the first quarter of 2017, we introduced Redfin Mortgage, to originate and underwrite mortgage loans, and began testing a new service
called Redfin Now, where we buy homes directly from home sellers, intending to resell those homes. To date, neither business has had a material
impact on our liquidity or results of operations. We do not currently expect homes held in inventory as part of Redfin Now to exceed $10.0 million
in 2017. If we decide to significantly expand these new product offerings, we may seek to raise additional capital through equity, equity-linked, or
debt financing arrangements to fund this expansion. We cannot assure you that any additional financing will be available to us on acceptable terms
or at all.
On August 2, 2017, we closed our IPO of 10,615,650 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $15.00 per share. We
received approximately $144.1 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and estimated offering costs. The
proceeds from the IPO will be reflected in our financial statements in the third quarter of 2017.
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:
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Six Months Ended June 30,
2016

2017
(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities

$

Net cash used in investing activities

(18,662)

$

(2,660)

Net cash provided by financing activities

$

462

(371)
(9,188)

$

(261)

Net cash used in operating activities in the six months ended June 30, 2017 consisted of $23.8 million of net losses, an $8.9 million
positive impact from non-cash items, a $8.4 million reduction in miscellaneous receivables when the landlord for our Seattle headquarters office
reimbursed us for tenant improvements, a $9.4 million net increase in accrued expenses and accounts payable due to the timing of when amounts
came due, and a $1.8 million decrease in prepaid expenses. These benefits were partially offset by a $3.9 million increase in accrued revenue due
to the timing of real estate transactions and $1.6 million in home purchases from testing Redfin Now.
Net cash used in investing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2017 consisted of $9.4 million of fixed asset purchases, including
$6.5 million of leasehold improvements for our new Seattle headquarters office space and $2.1 million of capitalized software development
expenses.
Net cash used in financing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2017 consisted of $1.0 million in proceeds from the exercise of
stock options offset by $1.8 million of payments of deferred initial public offering costs.
Contractual Obligations
There were no materials changes in our commitments under contractual obligations as disclosed in our final prospectus filed with the SEC
pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, on July 28, 2017, or the Prospectus.n
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements which have been
prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, revenue, and expenses at the date of the
financial statements. Generally, we base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions in accordance with GAAP that
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that we consider the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and
results of operations because they require our most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates
about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Our critical accounting policies and estimates include those related to revenue recognition
and stock-based compensation.
There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates as compared to the critical accounting policies and
estimates described in our Prospectus.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Since inception, we have not had any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to
as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or for another
contractually narrow or limited purpose.
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Recent Accounting Standards
See Note 1 to our condensed consolidated financial statements for recently adopted accounting pronouncements and recently issued
accounting pronouncements not yet adopted.
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Item 3. Qualitative and Quantitative Factors about Market Risk
The principal market risk we face is interest rate risk. We had cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments of $87.3 million as of
December 31, 2016 and $55.7 million as of June 30, 2017. The goals of our investment policy are liquidity and capital preservation. We do not
enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Our investment policy allows us to maintain a portfolio of cash equivalents and
investments in a variety of securities, including U.S. government treasury and agency issues, bank certificates of deposit that are 100% Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation insured, and SEC-registered money market funds that consist of a minimum of $1 billion in assets and meet the
above requirements. We believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of these assets as a result of changes in
interest rates due to the short term nature of our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. Declines in interest rates, however, would
reduce future investment income. A 100 basis-point decline in interest rates, occurring during and sustained throughout any of the periods
presented, would not have been material.
We do not currently have any operations outside of the United States and, as a result, we do not face significant risk with respect to
foreign currency exchange rates.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or
the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer have concluded that as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Changes in Internal Control
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting in connection with the evaluation required by Rules 13a-15(d) and
15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud,
if any, within the Company have been detected. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
From time to time we are involved in litigation, claims, and other proceedings relating to the operation of our business. Such litigation and
other proceedings may include, but are not limited to, actions relating to employment law and misclassification, intellectual property, commercial
arrangements, brokerage or real estate disputes, and vicarious liability based upon conduct of individuals or entities outside of our control including
partner agents. Litigation and other disputes are inherently unpredictable and subject to substantial uncertainties and unfavorable resolutions could
occur. Often these cases raise complex factual and legal issues, which are subject to risks and uncertainties and could require significant
management time and resources. Litigation and regulatory proceedings could result in unexpected expenses and liabilities, and could materially
adversely affect our reputation and results of operations. Other than with respect to the matters described below, we are not presently a party to
any legal proceedings that in the opinion of management, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together reasonably be
expected to result in a material loss.
Misclassification
Third-party licensed sales associates filed three lawsuits against us in the Superior Court of the State of California in 2013 and 2014. Two
of the actions, which are pled as “class actions,” were removed to, and are now pending in, the Northern District of California. One of these cases
also includes representative claims under California’s Private Attorney General Act, Labor Code section 2698 et seq, or PAGA. The third action is
pending in the Los Angeles County Superior Court and asserts representative claims under PAGA. All three complaints allege that the plaintiffs
and other licensed sales associates in California should be classified as employees instead of independent contractors. The claims vary from
case to case, but generally seek compensation for unpaid wages, overtime, failure to provide meal and rest periods as well as reimbursement of
business expenses. Each of these cases has been ordered to arbitration.
In June 2017, we entered into an agreement to resolve these cases for an aggregate payment of $1.8 million. The settlement class
contemplated by the agreement includes all current and former third-party licensed sales associates engaged by Redfin in California from
January 16, 2009 through April 29, 2017. This settlement agreement is subject to court approval. As part of the settlement process, on August 18,
2017, we filed a Second Amended Complaint in Los Angeles County Superior Court to consolidate all of the cases, and all other lawsuits and
arbitrations regarding these claims have been stayed pending the outcome of our efforts to obtain final settlement approval.
Threatened Claim
On July 24, 2017, we received a letter from counsel to David Eraker, one of Redfin’s founders and our former CEO. The letter asserts a
variety of claims against us, Paul Goodrich, a director, and Madrona Venture Group, an investor, related to events prior to Mr. Eraker’s departure
from Redfin in August 2006. Mr. Eraker released all claims against Redfin in connection with his departure. The letter focuses on allegations about
the inventorship of one of Redfin’s patent applications that has not issued and does not cover our current products or services. The letter threatens
litigation, but no complaint has been filed. We believe these claims have no merit. We will defend ourselves vigorously if Mr. Eraker sues us.
However, litigation is uncertain and expensive, and any judgment or settlement could harm our business.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, including “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our condensed consolidated
interim financial statements and related notes. Our business, operating results, financial condition, or prospects could be materially and adversely
affected by any of these risks and uncertainties. If any of these risks occurs, the trading price of our common stock could decline and you might
lose all or part of your investment. Our business, operating results, financial performance, or prospects could also be harmed by risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently do not believe are material.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
The U.S. residential real estate industry is seasonal and cyclical, and we’re negatively affected by industry downturns.
Our success depends largely on the health of the U.S. residential real estate industry, which is seasonal, cyclical, and affected by
changes in general economic conditions beyond our control. Any of the following macroeconomic factors could adversely affect demand for
residential real estate, result in falling home prices, and harm our business:
•

increased interest rates;

•

increased unemployment rates or stagnant or declining wages;

•

slow economic growth or recessionary conditions;

•

weak credit markets;

•

low consumer confidence in the economy or the U.S. residential real estate industry;

•

adverse changes in local or regional economic conditions in the markets that we serve;

•

fluctuations in local and regional home inventory levels;

•

constraints on the availability of mortgage financing, enhanced mortgage underwriting standards, or increased down payment
requirements;

•

federal and state legislative, tax or regulatory changes that would adversely affect the U.S. residential real estate industry, including
potential reform relating to Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and other government sponsored entities that provide liquidity to the mortgage
market, and limitations on the deductions of certain mortgage interest expenses;

•

increases in the exchange rate for the U.S. dollar compared to foreign currencies, causing
U.S. real estate to be more expensive for foreign purchasers;

•

foreign regulatory changes or capital controls that would make it more difficult for foreign purchasers to withdraw capital from their
home countries or purchase and hold U.S. real estate;

•

strength of financial institutions;

•

high levels of foreclosure activity in particular markets;
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•

a decrease in home ownership rates;

•

political uncertainty relating to the new presidential administration; or

•

acts of nature, such as hurricanes, earthquakes, and other natural disasters, as well as adverse environmental and climate changes
that disrupt the local or regional real estate markets we serve.

We have a history of losses, and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
We have not been profitable on an annual basis since we were founded, and as of June 30, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $716.7
million. We expect to continue to make future investments in developing and expanding our business, including technology, recruitment and
training, marketing, and pursuing strategic opportunities. These investments may not result in increased revenue or growth in our business.
Additionally, we may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including:
•

our inability to grow market share;

•

increased competition in the U.S. residential real estate industry;

•

changes in our commission rates;

•

our failure to realize our anticipated efficiency through our technology and business model;

•

failure to execute our growth strategies;

•

declines in the U.S. residential real estate industry; and

•

unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays, and other unknown factors.

Accordingly, we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability and we may continue to incur significant losses in the future.
Our business is concentrated in certain geographic markets. Failing to grow in those markets or any disruptions in those markets
could harm our business.
For 2015, 2016, and the six months ended June 30, 2017, approximately 76%, 72%, and 69% of our real estate revenue, respectively,
was derived from our top-10 markets, which consist of the metropolitan areas of Boston, Chicago, Los Angeles, Maryland, Orange Country,
Portland, San Diego, San Francisco, Seattle, and Virginia. These markets are primarily major metropolitan areas, where home prices and
transaction volumes are generally higher than other markets. Local and regional economic conditions in these markets differ materially from
prevailing conditions in other parts of the United States. In addition, due to the higher home prices in these markets, our real estate revenue and
gross margin is generally higher in these markets than in our smaller markets. Any overall or disproportionate downturn in demand or economic
conditions in any of our largest markets, particularly if we are not able to increase revenue from our other markets, could result in a decline in our
revenue and harm our business.
Our future market share gains may take longer than planned and cause us to incur significant costs.
We represent people buying and selling homes in over 80 markets throughout the United States. We have a limited operating history in
many of these markets. Expanding our services in existing and new markets and increasing the depth and breadth of our presence imposes
significant burdens on our marketing, compliance, and other administrative and managerial resources. Our plan to expand and deepen our market
share in our existing markets and possibly expand into additional markets is subject to a variety
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of risks and challenges. These risks and challenges include the varying economic and demographic conditions of each market, competition from
local and regional residential brokerage firms, variations in transaction dynamics, and pricing pressures. Additionally, our earlier markets typically
have higher mean home prices than our more recent markets. In addition, many valuable markets have established residential brokerages with
superior local referral networks, name recognition, and perceived local knowledge and expertise. If we cannot manage our expansion efforts
efficiently, our market share gains could take longer than planned and our related costs could exceed our expectations. In addition, we could incur
significant costs to seek to expand our market share, and still not succeed in attracting sufficient customers to offset such costs.
We expect our revenue and results of operations to fluctuate on a quarterly and annual basis.
Our revenue and results of operations are likely to vary significantly from period to period and may fail to match expectations as a result of
a variety of factors, many of which are outside our control. The other risk factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section may contribute to the
variability of our quarterly and annual results. In addition, our revenue and results may fluctuate as a result of:
•

seasonal variances of home sales, which historically peak during the summer and are weaker during the first and fourth quarters of
each year;

•

cyclical periods of slowdowns or recessions in the U.S. real estate market;

•

our ability to increase market share;

•

fluctuations in sale prices and transaction volumes in our top markets;

•

the price of homes bought or sold by Redfin homebuyers and home sellers;

•

price competition;

•

volume of transactions in markets with a higher than average mean home price;

•

mix of transactions;

•

impairment charges associated with goodwill and other intangible assets;

•

the timing and success of new offerings by us and our competitors;

•

changes in local market conditions;

•

changes in interest rates and the mortgage and credit markets;

•

the time it takes new lead agents to become fully productive;

•

changes in federal, state, or local laws or taxes that affect real estate transactions or residential brokerage, title insurance, and
mortgage insurance industries;

•

changes in multiple listing services, or MLSs, or other rules and regulations affecting the residential real estate industry; and

•

any acquisitions of, or investments in, third-party technologies or businesses.

As a result of potential variations in our revenue and results of operations, period-to-period comparisons may not be meaningful and the
results of any one period should not be relied on as an
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indication of future performance. In addition, our results of operations may not meet the expectations of investors or public market analysts who
follow us, which may adversely affect our stock price.
Our business model and growth strategy depend on our ability to attract homebuyers and home sellers to our website and mobile
application in a cost-effective manner.
Our success depends on our ability to attract homebuyers and home sellers to our website and mobile application in a cost-effective
manner. Our website and mobile application are our primary channels for meeting customers. We rely heavily on organic traffic generated from
search engines and other unpaid sources to meet customers. We use a variety of media in our marketing efforts, including online and television
advertising and social media, to drive traffic. We intend to continue to invest resources in our marketing efforts.
We are heavily dependent on digital marketing initiatives such as search engine optimization to improve our website’s search result
ranking and generate new customer leads. We also rely on other marketing methods such as social media marketing, paid search advertising, and
targeted email communications. Advertising platforms, such as Facebook, Google, and others, may raise their rates significantly, and we may
choose to use alternative and less expensive channels, which may not be as effective at attracting homebuyers and home sellers to our website
and mobile application. We also use television advertising, which may have significantly higher costs than other channels. In addition, we may be
required to expand into or continue to invest in more expensive channels than those we are currently in, which could harm our business.
These marketing efforts may not succeed for a variety of reasons, including changes to search engine algorithms, ineffective campaigns
across marketing channels, and limited experience in certain marketing channels like television. External factors beyond our control may also
affect the success of our marketing initiatives, such as filtering of our targeted communications by email servers, homebuyers and home sellers
failing to respond to our marketing initiatives, and competition from third parties. Any of these factors could reduce the number of homebuyers and
home sellers to our website and mobile application. We also anticipate that our marketing efforts will become increasingly expensive as
competition increases and we seek to expand our business in existing markets. Generating a meaningful return on our marketing initiatives may be
difficult. If our strategies do not attract homebuyers and home sellers efficiently, our business and growth would be harmed. Even if we
successfully increase revenue as a result of these efforts, that additional revenue may not offset the related expenses we incur.
We rely heavily on Internet search engines and mobile application stores to direct traffic to our website and our mobile application,
respectively.
We rely heavily on Internet search engines, such as Google, Bing, and Yahoo!, to drive traffic to our website and on mobile application
stores, such as Apple iTunes Store and the Android Play Store, for downloads of our mobile application. The number of visitors to our website and
mobile application downloads depends in large part on how and where our website and mobile application rank in Internet search results and mobile
application stores, respectively. For example, when a user types a property address into an Internet search engine, we rely on that search engine
to rank our webpages in the search results and to direct a user to the listing on our website. While we use search engine optimization to help our
webpages rank highly in search results, maintaining our search result rankings is not within our control. Internet search engines frequently update
and change their ranking algorithms, referral methodologies, or design layouts, which determine the placement and display of a user’s search
results. In some instances, Internet search engines may change these rankings in order to promote their own competing services or the services
of one or more of our competitors. Similarly, mobile application stores can change how they display searches and how mobile applications are
featured. For instance, editors at the Apple iTunes Store can feature prominently editor-curated mobile applications and cause the mobile
application to appear larger than other applications or more visibly on a featured list. Listings on our website and mobile application have
experienced fluctuations in search result and mobile application rankings in the past, and we anticipate fluctuations in the future. If our website or
listings on our website fail to rank prominently in Internet search results, our website traffic could decline. Likewise, a decline in our website and
mobile application traffic could reduce the number of customers for our services.
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If we cannot obtain and provide to our customers comprehensive and accurate real estate listings quickly, or at all, our business will
suffer.
Our ability to attract consumers to our website and mobile application is heavily dependent on our timely access to comprehensive and
accurate real estate listings data. We get listings data primarily from MLSs in the markets we serve. We also source listings data from public
records, other third-party listing providers, and individual homeowners and brokers. Many of our competitors and other real estate websites also
have access to MLSs and other listings data, including proprietary data, and may be able to source listings data or other real estate information
faster or more efficiently than we can. Since MLS participation is voluntary, brokers and homeowners may decline to post their listings data to their
local MLS or may seek to change or limit the way that data is distributed. A competitor or another industry participant could also create an
alternative listings data service, which may reduce the relevancy and comprehensive nature of the MLSs. If MLSs cease to be the predominant
source of listings data in the markets that we serve, we may be unable to get access to comprehensive listings data on commercially reasonable
terms, or at all, and we may be unable to provide timely listings to our customers.
If we do not comply with the rules, terms of service, and policies of MLSs, our access to and use of listings data may be restricted or
terminated and harm our business.
We must comply with each MLS’s rules, terms of service, and policies to access and use its listings data. Each of the more than 130
MLSs we belong to has adopted its own rules, terms of service, and policies governing, among other things, how MLS data may be used, and
listings data must be displayed on our website and mobile application. These rules typically do not contemplate multi-jurisdictional online
brokerages like ours and vary widely among markets. They also are in some cases inconsistent with the rules of other MLSs such that we are
required to customize our website, mobile application, or service to accommodate differences between MLS rules. Complying with the rules of
each MLS requires significant investment, including personnel, technology and development resources, other resources, and the exercise of
considerable judgment. If we are deemed to be noncompliant with an MLS’s rules, we may face disciplinary sanctions in that MLS, which could
include monetary fines, restricting or terminating our access to that MLS’s data, or other disciplinary measures. The loss or degradation of this
listings data could materially and adversely affect traffic to our website and mobile application, making us less relevant to consumers and
restricting our ability to attract customers. It also could reduce agent and customer confidence in our services and harm our business.
Our business model subjects us to challenges not faced by our competitors.
Unlike most of our brokerage competitors, we hire our lead agents as employees, rather than as independent contractors, and therefore we
incur related costs that our brokerage competitors do not, such as base pay, employee benefits, expense reimbursement, training, and employee
transactional support staff. We also continue to invest heavily in developing our technology, as well as new offerings. As a result, we have
significant costs, some of which we incur in anticipation of future growth in revenue and market share. In the event of fluctuations in demand in the
markets we serve, or significant reductions in home sales’ prices, whether due to seasonality, cyclicality, changes in interest rates, fiscal policy,
or other events, we will not be able to adjust our expenses as rapidly as many of our competitors, and our business would be harmed. Additionally,
due to these costs, our lead agent turnover may be more costly to us than to traditional brokerages, and our business may be harmed if we are
unable to achieve the necessary level of lead agent productivity and retention to offset their related costs.
Competition in the residential brokerage industry is intense and if we cannot compete effectively, our business will be harmed.
We face intense competition nationally and in each of the markets we serve. We compete primarily against other residential brokerages,
which include operations affiliated with national or local brands and small independent brokerages. We also compete with a growing number of
Internet-based residential brokerages and others who operate with non-traditional real estate business models. Competition with brokerages is
particularly intense in some of the densely populated metropolitan markets we serve. To
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capture and retain market share, we must compete successfully against other brokerages, not only for customers, but also for high-performing
lead agents and other critical employees.
The residential brokerage industry has low barriers to entry for new participants, including other technology-driven brokerages that offer
lower commissions than the traditional pricing model. We may change our pricing strategies in response to a number of factors, including
competitive pressures or in response to transaction volume fluctuations in particular markets we serve. As competitors introduce new offerings
that compete with ours or reduce their commission rates, we may need to change our pricing strategies to compete effectively. Any such changes,
particularly in the top-10 markets we serve, may affect our ability to compete successfully and harm our business.
Many of our brokerage competitors have substantial competitive advantages, such as longer operating histories, greater financial
resources, stronger brand recognition, more management, sales, marketing and other resources, and extensive relationships with participants in
the residential real estate industry, including third-party data providers such as MLSs. Consequently, these brokerages may have an advantage in
recruiting and retaining agents, attracting consumers, acquiring customers, and growing their businesses. They may be able to provide consumers
with offerings that are different from or superior to those we provide. They may also be acquired by third parties with greater resources than ours,
which would further strengthen and enable them to compete more vigorously or broadly with us. The success of our competitors could result in our
loss of market share and harm our business.
Our revenue may not continue to grow at its recent pace, or at all.
Our revenue may not continue to grow at the same pace as it has over the past several years. We believe that our future revenue growth
will depend, among other factors, on our ability to:
•

successfully expand and deepen our business and market share;

•

respond to seasonality and cyclicality in the real estate industry and the U.S. economy;

•

compete with the pricing and offerings of our competitors;

•

attract more customers to our website and mobile application;

•

successfully invest in developing technology, tools, features, and products;

•

maintain high levels of customer service;

•

maximize our lead agents’ productivity;

•

attract and retain high-quality lead agents;

•

successfully contract with high-quality partner agents; and

•

increase our brand awareness.

We may not be successful in our efforts to do any of the foregoing, and any failure to be successful in these matters could adversely
affect our revenue growth. You should not consider our past revenue growth to be indicative of our future growth.
If we’re not able to deliver a rewarding experience on mobile devices, whether through our mobile website or mobile application, we
may be unable to attract and retain customers.
Developing and supporting a mobile website and mobile application across multiple operating systems and devices requires substantial
time and resources. We may not be able to consistently provide a rewarding customer experience on mobile devices and, as a result, customers
we meet through our mobile
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website or mobile application may not choose to use our brokerage services, or those of our partner agents, at the same rate as customers we
meet through our website.
As new mobile devices and mobile operating systems are released, we may encounter problems in developing or supporting our mobile
website or mobile application for them. Developing or supporting our mobile website or mobile application for new devices and their operating
systems may require substantial time and resources. The success of our mobile website and mobile application could also be harmed by factors
outside our control, such as:
•

increased costs to develop, distribute, or maintain our mobile website or mobile application;

•

changes to the terms of service or requirements of a mobile application store that requires us to change our mobile application
development or features in an adverse manner; and

•

changes in mobile operating systems, such as Apple’s iOS and Google’s Android, that disproportionately affect us, degrade the
functionality of our mobile website or mobile application, require that we make costly upgrades to our offerings, or give preferential
treatment to competitive websites or mobile applications.

Adverse developments in economic conditions could harm our business.
Our business is sensitive to general economic conditions that are outside our control. These conditions include interest rates, inflation,
fluctuations in consumer confidence, fluctuations in equity and debt capital markets, availability of credit, and the strength of financial institutions,
which are sensitive to changes in the general macroeconomic environment. A host of factors beyond our control could cause fluctuations in these
conditions, including the political environment, disruptions in an economically significant geographic region, or equity or debt markets, acts or
threats of war, or terrorism, any of which could harm our business.
Our growth may be limited due to historically low home inventory levels.
Traditionally, a “balanced” residential real estate industry requires enough homes on the market to satisfy six months of homebuyer
demand. In recent years, home inventory has remained at historically low levels in many parts of the United States. Low inventory levels can harm
our ability to attract customers, inflate home prices, increase competition for homes, increase our operating expenses because of home touring
and offer-writing activities that do not result in closed home purchases, and reduce transaction volumes. As a result, our customers may be unable
to complete a sufficient number of real estate transactions to sustain or grow our transaction volume and revenue.
We may not be able to attract, retain, effectively train, motivate, and utilize lead agents.
As a result of our business model, our lead agents generally earn less on a per transaction basis than traditional agents, which may be
unattractive to some agents. Because our model is uncommon in our industry, agents considering working for us may not understand our
compensation model, or may not perceive it to be more attractive than the independent contractor, commission-driven compensation model used
by most traditional brokerages. If we‘re unable to attract, retain, effectively train, motivate, and utilize lead agents, we will be unable to grow our
revenue and we may be required to significantly increase our lead agent compensation or other costs, which could harm our business.
We are, and expect in the future to become, subject to an increasing variety of federal, state and local laws and regulations, many of
which are continuously evolving, which increases our compliance costs and could subject us to claims or otherwise harm our
business.
We are currently subject to a variety of, and may in the future become subject to, additional, federal, state, and local laws that are
continuously changing, including laws related to: the real estate,
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brokerage, title, and mortgage industries; mobile- and Internet-based businesses; and data security, advertising, privacy and consumer protection
laws. For instance, we are subject to federal laws such as the Fair Housing Act of 1968, or FHA, and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act
of 1974. These laws can be costly to comply with, require significant management attention, and could subject us to claims, government
enforcement actions, civil and criminal liability, or other remedies, including revocation of licenses and suspension of business operations.
In some cases, it is unclear as to how such laws and regulations affect us based on our business model that is unlike traditional
brokerages, and the fact that those laws and regulations were created for traditional real estate brokerages. If we are unable to comply with and
become liable for violations of these laws or regulations, or if unfavorable regulations or interpretations of existing regulations by courts or
regulatory bodies are implemented, we could be directly harmed and forced to implement new measures to reduce our liability exposure. It could
cause our operations in affected markets to become overly expensive, time consuming, or even impossible. This may require us to expend
significant time, capital, managerial, and other resources to modify or discontinue certain operations, limiting our ability to execute our business
strategies, deepen our presence in our existing markets, or expand into new markets. In addition, any negative exposure or liability could harm our
brand and reputation. Any costs incurred as a result of this potential liability could harm our business.
Further, due to the geographic scope of our operations and the nature of the services we provide, we may be required to obtain and
maintain additional real estate brokerage, title insurance agency, and mortgage broker licenses in certain states where we operate. Additionally, if
we enter new markets, we may be required to comply with new laws, regulations, and licensing requirements. As part of licensing requirements, we
are typically required to designate individual licensees of record. We cannot assure you that we are, and will remain at all times, in full compliance
with all real estate, title insurance, and mortgage licensing laws and regulations, and we may be subject to fines or penalties, including license
revocation, for any non-compliance. If in the future a state agency were to determine that we are required to obtain additional licenses in that state
in order to transact business, or if we lose an existing license or are otherwise found to be in violation of a law or regulation, our business
operations in that state may be suspended until we obtain the license or otherwise remedy the compliance issue.
Our failure to comply with the requirements governing the licensing and conduct of real estate brokerage and brokerage-related
businesses in the jurisdictions in which we operate could adversely affect our business.
Redfin, as a brokerage, and our agents are required to comply with the requirements governing the licensing and conduct of real estate
brokerage and brokerage-related businesses in the markets where we operate. These laws and regulations contain general standards for and
limitations on the conduct of real estate brokerages and agents, including those relating to licensing of brokerages and agents, fiduciary and
agency duties, administration of trust funds, collection of commissions, advertising, and consumer disclosures. Under applicable laws and
regulations, our agents, managing brokers, designated brokers, and other individual licensees have certain duties and are responsible for the
conduct of real estate brokerage activities. If we or our agents fail to obtain or maintain the licenses and permits for conducting our brokerage
business required by law or fail to conduct ourselves in accordance with the associated regulations, the relevant government authorities may order
us to suspend relevant operations or impose fines or other penalties. There is no assurance that we will be able to obtain or renew these licenses
in a timely manner, or at all.
We are subject to certain risks related to litigation filed by or against us, and adverse results may harm our business and financial
condition.
We are from time to time involved in, and may in the future be subject to, claims, suits, government investigations, and proceedings
arising from our business. We cannot predict with certainty the cost of defense, the cost of prosecution, insurance coverage, or the ultimate
outcome of litigation and other proceedings filed by or against us, including remedies, damage awards, and penalties. Regardless of outcome, any
such claims or actions could require significant time, money, managerial and other resources,
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result in negative publicity, and harm our business and financial condition. Such litigation and other proceedings may relate to:
•

violations of laws and regulations governing the residential brokerage, title, or mortgage industries;

•

employment law claims, including claims regarding worker misclassification;

•

compliance with wage and hour regulations;

•

privacy, cybersecurity incidents, and data breach claims;

•

intellectual property disputes;

•

consumer protection and fraud matters;

•

brokerage disputes such as the failure to disclose hidden property defects, as well as other claims associated with failure to meet our
client legal obligations, or incomplete or inaccurate listings data;

•

claims that our agents or brokerage engage in discriminatory behavior in violation of the FHA;

•

liability based on the conduct of individuals or entities outside of our control, such as independent contractor partner agents or
independent contractor associate agents;

•

disputes relating to our commercial relationships with third parties; and

•

actions relating to claims alleging other violations of federal, state, or local laws and regulations.

In addition, class action lawsuits, such as the existing worker misclassification claims we face, can often be particularly vexatious
litigation given the breadth of claims, the large potential damages claimed, and the significant costs of defense. The risks of litigation become
magnified and the costs of settlement increase in class actions in which the courts grant partial or full certification of a large class. Also, insurance
coverage may be unavailable for certain types of claims and, even where available, insurance carriers may dispute coverage for various reasons,
including the cost of defense. Further, such insurance may not be sufficient to cover the losses we incur.
Any failure to maintain, protect, and enhance our brand could hurt our ability to grow our business, particularly in markets where we
have limited brand recognition.
Maintaining, protecting, and enhancing our brand is critical to growing our business, particularly in markets where we have limited brand
recognition and compete with well-known traditional brokerages with longer histories and established community presence. This will partially
depend on our ability to continue to provide high-value, customer-oriented, and differentiated services, and we may not be able to do so effectively.
Enhancing and maintaining the quality of our brand may require us to make substantial investments, such as in marketing and advertising,
technology, and agent training. If we do not successfully build and maintain a strong brand, our business could be harmed. In addition, despite
these investments, our brand could be damaged from other events that are or may be beyond our control, such as litigation and claims, our failure
to comply with local laws and regulations, and illegal activity such as phishing scams or cybersecurity attacks targeted at us, our customers, or
others.
In addition to our agents, we rely on a flexible network of licensed third-party associate agents to conduct customer home tours and
field events, and their status as independent contractors is being challenged and may be challenged in the future.
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We are currently defending three lawsuits, each of which includes class or representative claims. Although we have entered an agreement
to settle these lawsuits, the settlement is subject to court approval and there is no assurance that the settlement will be approved. Further, we
may from time to time be subject to additional lawsuits or administrative proceedings, claiming that certain of our independent contractor associate
agents should be classified as our employees rather than as independent contractors. These lawsuits and proceedings typically seek substantial
monetary damages (including claims for unpaid wages, overtime, unreimbursed business expenses, and other items), injunctive relief, or
both. Adverse determinations in these matters could, among other things, require us to adopt certain changes in our business practices that are
costly and time-consuming to implement, entitle our independent contractor associate agents to the benefit of wage and hour laws, and result in
employment and withholding tax and benefit liabilities, as well as changes to the independent contractor status of our other non-employee service
providers. Regardless of the validity of these claims or their outcome, we have incurred, and anticipate incurring in the future, significant costs and
efforts to defend against or settle them. In addition, if legislative and regulatory authorities take actions that classify our independent contractor
service providers as employees, we would incur liabilities under a variety of laws and regulations, including tax, workers’ compensation,
unemployment benefits, labor, employment, and tort, including for prior periods, as well as potential liability for employee benefits and tax
withholdings.
We are subject to an array of employment-related laws and regulations and failure to comply with these obligations could harm our
business.
Our relationship with our employees is subject to various tax, wage and hour, unemployment, workers’ compensation, right to organize,
anti-discrimination, workplace safety, and other employment-related laws. Each state has its own unique wage and hour laws, which have been the
subject of growing litigation nationwide. In addition, federal and state regulatory authorities have increasingly challenged the classification of
workers as independent contractors rather than as employees. Legislators have also proposed legislation to make it easier to reclassify
independent contractors as employees, including legislation to increase recordkeeping requirements for employers of independent contractors, and
to abolish safe harbors allowing certain individuals to be treated as independent contractors. Federal agencies and each state have their own rules
and tests for determining the classification of workers, as well as whether employees meet exemptions from minimum wages and overtime laws.
These tests consider many factors that also vary from state to state and have evolved based on case law, regulations, and legislative changes
and frequently involve factual analysis as well. We may face significant penalties and damages if we are found to be noncompliant with any of
these laws and regulations.
Referring customers to our partner agents may harm our business.
We refer customers to third-party partner agents when we do not have a lead agent available due to high demand or geographic limitations.
Our dependence on partner agents can be particularly heavy in certain new markets as we build our operations to scale in those markets. Our
partner agents are independent licensed agents affiliated with other brokerages and we do not have any control over their actions. We may not be
able to attract and retain quality partner agents, and they may not offer the high-quality customer service that we expect. If our partner agents were
to provide diminished quality of customer service, engage in malfeasance, or otherwise violate the law, MLS or other broker rules and regulations,
our reputation and business may be harmed. Improper actions involving our partner agents may also lead to direct legal claims against us based
on agency, vicarious, or other theories of liability, which, if determined adversely, could increase our costs, affect the use of partner agents as part
of our business model and subject us to liability for their actions, including revocation of our licenses and suspension of business operations. Our
partner agents may also disagree with us and our strategies regarding the business or our interpretation of our respective rights and obligations
under our partner relationships. This could lead to disputes with our partner agents. To the extent we have such disputes, the attention of our
management and our partner agents will be diverted, which may harm our business.
Additionally, referring customers to partner agents limits our growth and brand awareness because referring customers to partner agents
potentially redirects repeat and referral opportunities to them. Referring customers to partner agents may also dilute the effectiveness of our
marketing efforts and may lead to customer confusion or dissatisfaction when they are offered the opportunity to work with a partner
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agent rather than one of our lead agents. Nevertheless, retaining more customers than we are able to serve may affect customer satisfaction by
overloading our lead agents and teams. If we are unable to allocate transactions between our lead agents and partner agents efficiently, and
successfully contract with high-quality partner agents, our business may be harmed.
If our technology and development efforts are not successful, our business may be harmed.
We intend to continue investing significant resources in developing technology, tools, features, and products. If we do not spend our
development budget efficiently or effectively on commercially successful and innovative technologies, we may not realize the expected benefits of
our strategy. Moreover, technology development is inherently challenging and expensive, and the nature of development cycles may result in
delays between the time we incur expenses and the time we make available new offerings and generate revenue, if any, from those investments.
Anticipated customer demand for an offering we are developing could also decrease after the development cycle has commenced, and we would
not be able to recoup substantial costs we incurred. In addition, there are many competitors in the markets we serve, including brokerages as well
as non-brokerage real estate websites, and we may not be able to effectively compete both as a brokerage and a developer of technology. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to identify, design, develop, implement, and utilize, in a timely and cost-effective manner, technologies
necessary for us to compete effectively, that such technologies will be commercially successful, or that products and services developed by
others will not render our offerings noncompetitive or obsolete. If we do not achieve the desired or anticipated customer acquisition and transaction
efficiency leverage from our technology investments, our business may be harmed.
Our introduction of new services, such as originating and underwriting mortgage loans for customers and buying and selling homes
directly, could fail to produce the desired or predicted results or harm our reputation.
From time to time, we develop new services. For example, in the first quarter of 2017, we began originating and underwriting mortgage
loans for customers in Texas through our wholly owned subsidiary, Redfin Mortgage LLC, or Redfin Mortgage. Redfin Mortgage funds its loans
using two separate warehouse credit facilities, intending to sell all loans to third-party financial institutions after a holding period. While Redfin
Mortgage only originates loans upon receiving purchase commitments from third-party financial institutions, these commitments are subject to
origination quality standards and these institutions still retain contractual rights to reject the loans. If Redfin Mortgage is unable to sell its loans, it
may be required to repurchase them from the warehouse lenders and sell them at a discount.
In the first quarter of 2017, we also began testing an experimental new service called Redfin Now, where we buy homes directly from
home sellers through a wholly owned subsidiary and resell them to homebuyers. Our estimates of what a home is worth and the algorithm we use
to inform those estimates may not be accurate and we may pay more for homes than their resale value. In determining whether a particular
property meets our purchase criteria, we make a number of additional assumptions, including the estimated time of possession, market conditions
and proceeds on resale, renovation costs, and holding costs. These assumptions may not be accurate, particularly because properties vary widely
in terms of quality, location, need for renovation, and property hazards. Unknown defects in any acquired properties may also affect their resale
value. As a result, we may pay more to buy these properties than their resale value, and we may not be able to resell them as anticipated or at all.
Homes that we own might suffer losses in value due to rapidly changing market conditions, natural disasters, or other forces outside our control.
We have limited experience operating services outside of our core brokerage and forecasting our revenue and other financial results for
any new service is inherently uncertain; our actual results may vary significantly from what we desire or predict or the estimates of analysts.
Additionally, the revenue recognition terms and gross margin profile of our new services, in particular Redfin Now, substantially differ from our core
brokerage service and therefore may impact our overall results in a manner difficult for us or analysts to predict. Our new services may also fail to
attract customers, reduce customer confidence in our services, undermine our customer-first reputation, create real or perceived conflicts of
interest between us and our customers, expose us to increased market risks, subject us to claims related to undisclosed defects
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in homes that we sell, alleging that we have breached our duties to our customers, or result in other disputes with our customers. Any of these
events could harm our reputation or mean that such new services will harm our business.
New services that we introduce and implement, including our mortgage offering, may subject us to new laws and regulations.
From time to time, we may introduce and implement new services in highly regulated areas. For instance, our title and settlement services
are subject to regulation by insurance and other regulatory authorities on the federal level and in each state in which we provide such services.
Compliance with new and existing regulatory and compliance regimes is time consuming and may require significant time and effort, which may
divert attention and resources from our other offerings.
Redfin Mortgage is subject to a wide array of stringent federal and state laws, regulations, and agency oversight. These include laws and
regulations governing the relationship between us and Redfin Mortgage, the manner in which Redfin Mortgage conducts its loan origination and
servicing businesses, the fees that it may charge, procedures relating to real estate settlement, fair lending, fair credit reporting, truth in lending,
loan officer licensing, property valuation, escrow, payment processing, collection, foreclosure, and federal and state disclosure and licensing
requirements. Redfin Mortgage receives, transmits and stores personally identifiable information from our customers to process mortgage
applications and transactions. The sharing, use, disclosure, and protection of such information is governed by federal, state, and international laws
regarding privacy and data security, all of which are constantly evolving. Changes to or a failure to comply with these laws and regulations could
limit Redfin Mortgage’s ability to originate and fund mortgage loans, require us to change our business practices, result in revocation or suspension
of our licenses and subject us to significant civil and criminal penalties. Any such events could harm our business.
Homes that we own are also subject to federal, state, and local laws governing hazardous substances. These laws often impose liability
without regard to whether the owner was responsible for, or aware of, the release of such hazardous substances. If we take title to a property, the
presence of hazardous substances may adversely affect our ability to resell the property, and we may became liable to governmental entities or
third parties for various fines, damages, or remediation costs.
If our current or future technology developments and service improvements do not meet customer or agent expectations, our
business may be harmed.
Our technology-powered brokerage model is relatively new and unproven, and differs significantly from traditional residential brokerages.
Our success depends on our ability to innovate and adapt our technology-powered brokerage to meet evolving industry standards and customer
and agent expectations. We have expended, and expect to continue to expend, substantial time, capital, and other resources to understand the
needs of customers and agents and to develop technology and service offerings to meet those needs. We cannot assure you that our current and
future offerings will be satisfactory to or broadly accepted by customers and agents, or competitive with the offerings of other businesses. If our
current or future offerings are unable to meet industry and customer and agent expectations in a timely and cost-effective manner, our business
may be harmed.
We could be required to cease certain activities or incur substantial costs as a result of any claim of infringement of another party’s
intellectual property rights.
From time to time, we may receive claims from third parties, including our competitors, that our offerings or underlying technology infringe
or violate that third party’s intellectual property rights. We may be unaware of the intellectual property rights of others that may cover some or all of
our technology. If we are sued by a third party that claims our technology infringes on its rights, the litigation (with or without merit) could be
expensive, time-consuming, and distracting to management. The results of such disputes or litigation are difficult to predict. The results of any
intellectual property litigation to which we might become a party may require us to do one or more of the following:
•

cease offering or using technologies that incorporate the challenged intellectual property;
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•

make substantial payments for judgments, legal fees, settlement payments, ongoing royalties, or other costs or damages;

•

obtain a license, which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all, to use the relevant technology; or

•

redesign our technology to avoid infringement.

If we are required to make substantial payments or undertake any of the other actions noted above as a result of any intellectual property
infringement claims against us, such payments or costs could have an adverse effect on our business and financial results. Even if we were to
prevail, such claims and proceedings could harm our business.
Any failure to protect our intellectual property rights could impair our ability to protect our proprietary technology and our brand.
Our success and ability to compete depends in part on our intellectual property. We primarily rely on a combination of patent, trademark,
trade secret, and copyright laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions with our employees, independent contractors
and others to establish and protect our intellectual property rights. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may be
inadequate or we may be unable to secure intellectual property protection for all of our technology and methodologies.
If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our competitors could use our intellectual property to market offerings similar to ours
and our ability to compete effectively would be impaired. Moreover, others may independently develop technologies that are competitive to ours or
infringe on our intellectual property. The enforcement of our intellectual property rights depends on our legal actions against these infringers being
successful, but we cannot be sure these actions will be successful, even when our rights have been infringed. In addition, defending our
intellectual property rights might entail significant expense and diversion of management resources. Any of our intellectual property rights may be
challenged by others or invalidated through administrative processes or litigation. Furthermore, legal standards relating to the validity,
enforceability, and scope of protection of intellectual property rights are uncertain and constantly changing. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we
may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing or misappropriating our intellectual property. Any intellectual property that we own may not
provide us with competitive advantages or may be successfully challenged by third parties.
Our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims, and countersuits attacking the validity and
enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Litigation to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be expensive, time-consuming
and distracting to management, and could ultimately result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property.
We employ third-party licensed technology, and the inability to maintain these licenses or errors in the software we license could
result in increased costs, or reduced service levels, which would harm our business.
Our technology employs certain third-party software obtained under licenses from other companies. We anticipate that we will continue to
rely on such third-party software and tools in the future. Although we believe that there are commercially reasonable alternatives to the third-party
software we currently license, this may not always be the case, or it may be difficult or costly to replace. In addition, integration of our technology
with new third-party software may require significant work and require substantial investment of our time and resources. Also, to the extent that our
technology depends on the successful operation of third-party software, any undetected errors or defects in the third-party software could prevent
the deployment or impair the functionality of our technology, delay new offerings, result in a failure of our website or mobile application, and harm
our reputation. Our use of additional or alternative third-party
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software would require us to enter into license agreements with third parties, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at
all.
Some aspects of our technology include open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of these
open source licenses could harm our business.
Our technology incorporates software covered by open source licenses. The terms of various open source licenses have not been
interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or
restrictions on our technology. If portions of our proprietary software are determined to be subject to an open source license, we could be required
to publicly release the affected portions of our source code, re-engineer all or a portion of our technologies or otherwise be limited in our use of
such software, each of which could reduce or eliminate the value of our technologies and harm our business. In addition to risks related to license
requirements, use of open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors
generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of the software. Many of the risks associated with use of open source software cannot
be eliminated and, if such risks materialize, could harm our business.
Moreover, we cannot assure you that our processes for controlling our use of open source software will be effective. If we are held not to
have complied with the terms of an applicable open source software license, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties to continue
offering our services on terms that are not economically feasible, to re-engineer our technology to remove or replace the open source software, to
discontinue the use of certain technology if re-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis, to pay monetary damages, to make
generally available the source code for our proprietary technology, or to waive certain intellectual property rights, any of which could harm our
business.
Responding to any infringement or other enforcement claim, regardless of its validity, could harm our business, results of operations, and
financial condition, by, among other things:
•

resulting in time-consuming and costly litigation;

•

diverting management’s time and attention from developing our business;

•

requiring us to pay monetary damages or enter into royalty and licensing agreements that we would not normally find acceptable;

•

requiring us to redesign certain components of our software using alternative non-infringing source technology or practices, which could
require significant effort and expense;

•

disrupting our customer relationships if we are forced to cease offering certain services;

•

requiring us to waive certain intellectual property rights associated with our release of open source software, or contributions to thirdparty open source projects;

•

requiring us to disclose our software source code; and

•

requiring us to satisfy indemnification obligations.

Our business depends on third-party network and mobile infrastructure and on our ability to maintain and scale the technology
underlying our offerings.
Our brand, reputation, and ability to attract homebuyers and home sellers and provide our offerings depend on the reliable performance of
third-party network and mobile infrastructure. As the number of homebuyers and home sellers, agents, and listings shared on our website and
mobile application and the extent and types of data grow, our need for additional network capacity and computing power will also grow. Operating
our underlying technology systems is expensive and complex, and we could experience
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operational failures. If we experience interruptions or failures in these systems, whether due to system failures, computer viruses, physical or
electronic break-ins, attacks on domain name servers or other third parties on which we rely, or any other reason, the security and availability of
our services and technologies could be affected. Any such event could harm our reputation, result in a loss of consumers, customers and agents
using our offerings, and cause us to incur additional costs.
Our website is hosted at a single facility, the failure of which would harm our business.
Our website is hosted at a single facility in Seattle, Washington. We do not currently have a back-up web hosting facility in a different
geographic area. Should this facility experience outages or downtimes for any reason, including a natural disaster or some other event, such as
human error, fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, physical or electronic break-ins, terrorist attacks, acts of war, and similar events,
we could suffer a significant interruption of our website and mobile application, which would harm our business. In addition, our website and mobile
application could be interrupted even if this facility experiences temporary outages, which could also negatively affect our services and harm our
business.
Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt our business operations, result in the loss of critical and confidential information, and harm
our business.
Global cybersecurity threats and incidents directed at us or our third-party service providers can range from uncoordinated individual
attempts to gain unauthorized access to information technology systems to sophisticated and targeted measures known as advanced persistent
threats. In the ordinary course of our business, we and our third-party service providers collect and store sensitive data, including our proprietary
business information and intellectual property, and that of our customers, including personally identifiable information. Additionally, we rely
increasingly on third-party providers to store and process data, and to communicate and work collaboratively. The secure processing,
maintenance, and transmission of information are critical to our operations and we rely on the security procedures of these third-party providers.
Although we employ comprehensive measures designed to prevent, detect, address, and mitigate these threats (including access controls, data
encryption, vulnerability assessments, and maintenance of backup and protective systems), cybersecurity incidents, depending on their nature
and scope, could potentially result in the misappropriation, destruction, corruption, or unavailability of critical data and confidential or proprietary
information (our own or that of third parties, including personally identifiable information of our customers) and the disruption of business
operations. Any such compromises to our security, or that of our third-party providers, could cause customers to lose trust and confidence in us,
and stop using our website and mobile application in their entirety. In addition, we may incur significant costs for remediation that may include
liability for stolen assets or information, repair of system damage, and compensation to customers and business partners. We may also be subject
to legal claims, government investigation, and additional state and federal statutory requirements.
Our software is highly complex and may contain undetected errors.
The software and systems underlying our technology and offerings are highly complex and may contain undetected errors or
vulnerabilities, some of which may only be discovered after their implementation. Our development and testing processes may not be sufficient to
ensure that we will not encounter technical problems. Any inefficiencies, errors, technical problems, or vulnerabilities discovered in our software
and systems after release could reduce the quality of our services or interfere with our agents’ and customers’ access to and use of our
technology and offerings. This could result in damage to our reputation, loss of revenue or liability for damages, any of which could harm our
business.
Changes in privacy or consumer protection laws could adversely affect our ability to attract customers and harm our business.
We collect information relating to our customers as part of our business and marketing activities. The collection and use of personal data
is governed by privacy laws and regulations of the United States and other jurisdictions. Privacy regulations continue to evolve and, occasionally,
may be inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another. Compliance with applicable privacy regulations may increase our operating costs or adversely
affect our ability to market our services and products and serve our customers. In addition,
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non-compliance with applicable privacy regulations by us, or a breach of security systems storing our data, may result in fines, payment of
damages, or restrictions on our use or transfer of data.
In addition, we are subject to, and may become subject to additional, laws or regulations that restrict or prohibit use of emails, similar
marketing or advertising activities or other types of communication that we currently rely on. Such laws and regulations currently include the CANSPAM Act of 2003 and similar laws adopted by a number of states to regulate unsolicited commercial emails; the U.S. Federal Trade Commission
guidelines that impose responsibilities on companies with respect to communications with consumers; federal and state laws and regulations
prohibiting unfair or deceptive acts or practices; and the Telephone Consumer Protection Act that limits certain uses of automatic dialing systems,
artificial or prerecorded voice messages and SMS text messages. Any further restrictions under such laws that govern our marketing and
advertising activities could adversely affect the effectiveness of our marketing and advertising activities or other customer communications.
Furthermore, even if we can comply with existing or new laws and regulations, we may discontinue certain activities or communications if we
become concerned that our customers or potential customers deem them intrusive or they otherwise adversely affect our reputation. If our
marketing and advertising activities are restricted, our ability to attract customers could be adversely affected and harm our business.
If our promotional emails are not delivered and accepted, or are routed by email providers less favorably than other emails, our
business may be harmed.
We rely on targeted email campaigns to generate customer interest in our products and services. If email providers implement new or
more restrictive email delivery policies it may become more difficult to deliver emails to our customers. For example, certain email providers
categorize commercial email as “promotional,” and direct such emails to a less readily-accessible section of a customer’s inbox. If email providers
materially limit or halt the delivery of certain of our emails, or if we fail to deliver emails to customers in a manner compatible with email providers’,
email handling or authentication technologies, our ability to generate customer interest in our offerings using email may be restricted, which could
harm our business.
We rely on business data to make business decisions and drive our machine-learning technology, and errors or inaccuracies in such
data may adversely affect our business decisions and the customer experience.
We regularly analyze business data to evaluate growth trends, measure our performance, establish budgets, and make strategic
decisions. Much of this data is internally generated and calculated and has not been independently verified. While our business decisions are
based on what we believe to be reasonable calculations for the applicable period of measurement, there are inherent challenges in measuring and
interpreting the data, and we cannot be sure that the data, or the calculations using such data, are accurate. Errors or inaccuracies in the data
could result in poor business decisions, resource allocation, or strategic initiatives. For instance, if we overestimate traffic to our website and
mobile application, we may not invest an adequate amount of resources in attracting new customers or we may hire more lead agents in a given
market than necessary to meet customer demand. If we make poor decisions based on erroneous or inaccurate data, our business may be
harmed.
We use our business data and proprietary algorithms to inform our machine learning, such as in the calculation of our Redfin Estimate. If
customers disagree with us or if our Redfin Estimate fails to accurately reflect market pricing such that we are unable to attract homebuyers or
help our customers sell their homes at satisfactory prices, or at all, customers may lose confidence in us, and our brand and business may be
harmed.
If we fail to effectively manage the growth of our operations, technology systems, and infrastructure to service customers and
agents, our business could be harmed.
We have experienced rapid and significant growth in recent years that has placed, and may continue to place, significant demands on our
management and our operational and financial infrastructure. For example, we have grown from 752 employees as of December 31, 2013 to
2,193 employees as of
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June 30, 2017. As we continue to grow, our success will depend on our ability to expand, maintain, and improve technology that supports our
business operations, as well as our financial and management information systems, disclosure controls and procedures, internal controls over
financial reporting, and to maintain effective cost controls. This requires us to commit substantial financial, operational and technical resources.
Our ability to manage these efforts could be affected by many factors, including a lack of adequate staffing with the requisite expertise and
training. If our operational technology is insufficient to reliably service our customers and agents, then the number of visitors to our website and
mobile application could decrease, agents may not desire to work for us, our customer service and transaction volume could suffer, and our costs
could increase. In addition, our reputation may be negatively affected. Any of these events could harm our business.
We depend on our senior management team to grow and operate our business, and if we are unable to hire, retain, manage, and
motivate our key personnel, or if our new personnel do not perform as we anticipate, our business may be harmed.
Our future success depends on our continued ability to identify, hire, develop, manage, motivate, and retain qualified personnel,
particularly those who have specialized skills and experience in technology fields and the residential brokerage industry. Further, we may not be
able to retain the services of our key employees or other members of senior management in the future. In particular, we are highly dependent on
Glenn Kelman, our Chief Executive Officer, who is critical to our business, consumer-focused mission, and strategic direction.
We do not have employment agreements other than offer letters with any employee, including our senior management team, and we do
not maintain key person life insurance for any employee. Any changes in our senior management team may be disruptive to our business. If we
fail to retain or effectively replace members of our senior management team, or if our senior management team fails to work together effectively
and to execute our plans and strategies, our business could be harmed.
Our growth strategy also depends on our ability to expand our organization by attracting and retaining high-quality personnel, particularly
lead agents and experienced technical personnel. Identifying, recruiting, training, integrating, managing, and motivating talented individuals will
require significant time, expense, and attention. Competition for talent is intense, particularly in many major markets we serve. In particular, hiring
for technical personnel is highly competitive in Seattle and San Francisco, where substantially all of our technical team is located. If we are unable
to effectively attract and retain qualified personnel, our business could be harmed.
Our dedication to our values and the customer experience may negatively influence our short-term financial results.
We have taken, and may continue to take, actions that we believe are in the best interests of customers and the long-term interests of our
business, even if those actions do not necessarily maximize short-term financial results. For instance, we believe we could increase our
profitability in the short term by engaging lead agents as independent contractors and compensating them on transaction value-based
commissions, but instead we employ our lead agents and compensate them based in part on customer satisfaction. However, this approach may
not result in the long-term benefits that we expect, in which case our business and results of operations could be harmed.
We may need to raise additional capital to grow our business and satisfy our anticipated future liquidity needs, and we may not be
able to raise it on terms acceptable to us, or at all.
Growing and operating our business will require significant cash outlays, liquidity reserves and capital expenditures and commitments to
respond to business challenges, including developing or enhancing new or existing services and technologies, and expanding our operating
infrastructure. If cash on hand, cash generated from operations, and the net proceeds we received from our initial public offering are not sufficient
to meet our cash and liquidity needs, we may need to seek additional capital, potentially through debt or equity financings. We may not be able to
raise needed cash on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Such financings may be on terms that are dilutive or potentially dilutive to our stockholders,
and the
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prices at which new investors would be willing to purchase our securities may be lower than the then-current market price per share of our common
stock. The holders of new securities may also have rights, preferences, or privileges that are senior to those of existing stockholders. If new
financing sources are required, but are insufficient or unavailable, we may need to modify our growth and operating plans and business strategies
based on available funding, if any, which would harm our ability to grow our business.
We intend to evaluate acquisitions or investments in third-party technologies and businesses, but we may not realize the anticipated
benefits from, and may have to pay substantial costs related to, any acquisitions, mergers, joint ventures, or investments that we
undertake.
As part of our business strategy, we evaluate acquisitions of, or investments in, a wide array of potential strategic opportunities, including
third-party technologies and businesses. We may be unable to identify suitable acquisition candidates in the future or to make these acquisitions
on a commercially reasonable basis, or at all. Any transactions that we enter into could be material to our financial condition and results of
operations. Such acquisitions may not result in the intended benefits to our business, and we may not successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired
technology, offerings, or personnel, or accurately forecast the financial effect of an acquisition transaction. The process of integrating an acquired
company, business, technology, or personnel into our own company is subject to various risks and challenges, including:
•

diverting management time and focus from operating our business to acquisition integration;

•

disrupting our respective ongoing business operations;

•

customer and industry acceptance of the acquired company’s offerings;

•

our ability to implement or remediate the controls, procedures, and policies of the acquired company;

•

retaining and integrating acquired employees;

•

failing to maintain important business relationships and contracts;

•

liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition;

•

litigation or other claims arising in connection with the acquired company;

•

impairment charges associated with goodwill and other acquired intangible assets; and

•

other unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures.

Our failure to address these risks or other problems we encounter with our future acquisitions and investments could cause us to not
realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions or investments, incur unanticipated liabilities, and harm our business.
We will incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company and our management will be required to devote
substantial time to new compliance initiatives.
As a public company, particularly after we are no longer an emerging growth company, we will incur significant legal, accounting, and other
expenses that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and rules
subsequently implemented by the SEC and The NASDAQ Stock Market have imposed various requirements on public companies, including
establishing and maintaining effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel
have limited experience operating a public company, which may result in operational inefficiencies or errors, or a failure to improve or maintain
effective internal control over
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financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures necessary to ensure timely and accurate reporting of operational and financial results.
We may need to hire additional personnel, and our existing management team will need to devote a substantial amount of time to these
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities
more time-consuming and costly.
Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we will be required to furnish a report by our management on our internal control over
financial reporting, including an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting
firm. However, while we remain an emerging growth company, we will not be required to include an attestation report on internal control over
financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. To achieve compliance with Section 404 within the prescribed
period, we will be engaged in a process to document and evaluate our internal control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging.
In this regard, we will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside consultants, and adopt a detailed work plan to
assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control processes as appropriate,
validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented, and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal
control over financial reporting. Despite our efforts, there is a risk that neither we nor our independent registered public accounting firm will be able
to conclude within the prescribed timeframe that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as required by Section 404. This could
result in an adverse reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of confidence in the reliability of our consolidated financial statements.
In addition, changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for
public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs, and making some activities more time consuming. These laws, regulations and
standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity and, as a result, their application in practice may
evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance
matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest resources to comply with
evolving laws, regulations, and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and divert
management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations
and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice,
regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.
We also expect that as a public company, it will be more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be
required to incur substantially higher costs to obtain and maintain the same or similar coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for
us to attract and retain qualified executive officers and members of our board of directors.
Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be limited.
As of December 31, 2016, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, we may use to reduce future taxable income or offset
income taxes due. The NOLs start expiring in 2025. Insufficient future taxable income will adversely affect our ability to deploy these NOLs and
credit carryforwards. In addition, under Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a corporation that
experiences a more-than 50% ownership change over a three-year testing period is limited in its ability to use its pre-change NOLs and other tax
assets to offset future taxable income or income taxes due. Our existing NOLs and credit carryforwards may be subject to limitations arising from
previous ownership changes; if we undergo an ownership change, our ability to use our NOLs and credit carryforwards could be further limited by
Section 382 of the Code. Future changes in our stock ownership, the causes of which may be outside our control, could result in an ownership
change under Section 382 of the Code. Our NOLs may also be impaired under state law. As a result of these limitations, we may not be able to
utilize a material portion of, or possibly any of, the NOLs and credit carryforwards.
Catastrophic events may disrupt our business.
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Natural disasters or other catastrophic events may damage or disrupt our operations, local and regional real estate markets, or the U.S.
economy, and thus could harm our business. Our headquarters is located in Seattle, Washington, an earthquake-prone area. A natural disaster or
catastrophic event in Seattle could interrupt our engineering and financial functions and impair access to internal systems, documents, and
equipment critical to the operation of our business. Many of the major markets we serve, such as the San Francisco Bay Area and Southern
California, are also located in earthquake zones and are susceptible to natural disasters. Additionally, other significant natural disasters or
catastrophic events in any of the major markets we serve could harm our business.
As we grow, the need for business continuity planning and disaster recovery plans will become increasingly important. If we are unable to
develop adequate plans to ensure that our business functions continue to operate during and after a disaster, and successfully execute on those
plans in the event of a disaster or emergency, our business could be harmed.
We could be subject to significant losses if banks do not honor our escrow and trust deposits.
Through Title Forward, our title and settlement services business, we act as an escrow agent for numerous customers. As an escrow
agent, we receive money from customers to hold until certain conditions are satisfied. These funds are held as restricted cash on our balance
sheet; because we do not have rights to the cash, a corresponding customer deposit liability in the same amount is recognized in our consolidated
balance sheets in other payables. Upon the satisfaction of the applicable conditions, we release the money to the appropriate party. Although we
deposit this money with various banks, we remain contingently liable for the disposition of these deposits. The banks may hold a significant
amount of these deposits in excess of the federal deposit insurance limit. If any of our depository banks were to become unable to honor any
portion of our deposits, customers could seek to hold us responsible for such amounts and, if the customers prevailed in their claims, we could be
subject to significant losses.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
The stock price of our common stock has been and will likely continue to be volatile and may decline regardless of our performance,
and you could lose all or part of your investment.
The market price of our common stock has been and will likely continue to be subject to significant fluctuations. Some of the factors that
may cause the market price to fluctuate include the following, many of which are beyond our control:
•

overall performance of the equity markets and the performance of technology or real estate companies in particular;

•

variations in our results of operations, cash flows, and other financial metrics and non-financial metrics, and how those results
compare to analyst expectations;

•

changes in the financial projections we may provide to the public or our failure to meet those projections;

•

failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who
follow our company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

•

recruitment or departure of key personnel;

•

variations in general market, financial markets, economic, and political conditions in the United States;

•

changes in mortgage interest rates;
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•

variations in the housing market, including seasonal trends and fluctuations;

•

negative publicity related to the real or perceived quality of our website and mobile application, as well as the failure to timely launch
new products and services that gain market acceptance;

•

rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant technical innovations, new business models, or changes in pricing;

•

acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments;

•

new laws, regulations, or executive orders, or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

•

changes in MLS or other broker rules and regulations, or new interpretations of rules and regulations applicable to our business;

•

lawsuits threatened or filed against us, or unfavorable determinations or settlements in any such suits;

•

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or our technology, or third- party proprietary rights;

•

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations, or principles;

•

other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, or responses to these events;

•

the expiration of contractual lock-up or market standoff agreements; and

•

sales of shares of our common stock by us or our stockholders.

In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the
market prices of equity securities of many companies. Stock prices of many companies, and technology companies in particular, have fluctuated
in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities
class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial
costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business, and harm our business.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our
stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about
us or our business, our market and our competitors. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us
downgrade our shares or change their opinion of our shares, our share price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease covering
us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading volume to
decline.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock, or the perception that they might occur, could cause the price of our
common stock to decline.
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Upon the completion of our initial public offering, we had outstanding a total of 81,233,856 shares of common stock. Of these shares, only
the 10,615,650 shares of common stock sold in our initial public offering are freely tradable, without restriction, in the public market. Each of our
officers and directors and substantially all of our securityholders have entered into lock-up agreements with the underwriters of our IPO that restrict
their ability to sell or transfer their shares. The lock-up agreements pertaining to our IPO will expire on January 23, 2018. However, the underwriters
may, in their sole discretion, permit our officers, directors and other current stockholders who are subject to the contractual lock-up to sell shares
prior to the expiration of the lock-up agreements. After the lock-up agreements expire, based on shares outstanding as of June 30, 2017, up to an
additional 70,305,768 shares of common stock will be eligible for sale in the public market, approximately 19.8 million of which are held by our
officers, directors and their affiliated entities, and will be subject to volume limitations under Rule 144 under the Securities Act and various vesting
agreements. In addition, approximately 13.8 million shares of our common stock that are subject to outstanding options as of June 30, 2017 will
become eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting agreements, the lock-up agreements, and
Rules 144 and 701 under the Securities Act. We have also registered approximately 9.5 million shares of common stock that we may issue under
our equity compensation plans.
The holders of an aggregate of approximately 58.3 million shares of our outstanding common stock as of June 30, 2017 have rights,
subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their shares or to include their shares in registration statements
that we may file for ourselves or our stockholders.
We cannot predict what effect, if any, sales of our shares in the public market or the availability of shares for sale will have on the market
price of our common stock. However, future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, including shares issued on
exercise of outstanding options, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
We also expect that significant additional capital may be needed in the future to continue our planned operations. To raise capital, we may
sell common stock, convertible securities or other equity securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner we determine from time
to time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market
price of our common stock.
We have broad discretion to use of the net proceeds from our initial public offering and may not use them effectively.
Our management has broad discretion in the application of the net proceeds from our initial public offering. If we do not use the net
proceeds that we received from our initial public offering effectively, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects could be
harmed, and the market price of our common stock could decline. Pending their use, we may invest the net proceeds from our initial public offering
in short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing securities such as money market accounts, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, and
guaranteed obligations of the U.S. government that may not generate a high yield to our stockholders.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. We currently anticipate that for the foreseeable future we will retain all of our future earnings for the development, operation and growth of
our business and for general corporate purposes. Any future determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of
directors. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to
realize any future gains on their investments.
Our executive officers, directors, principal stockholders and their affiliates exercise significant influence over our company, which
will limit your ability to influence corporate matters and could delay or prevent a change in corporate control.
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As of August 31, 2017, our executive officers, directors, five percent or greater stockholders and their respective affiliates own in the
aggregate approximately 57% of our common stock. As a result, these stockholders have the ability to influence us through this ownership
position. These stockholders may be able to determine all matters requiring stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders may be able to
control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate
transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you may feel are in your best
interest as one of our stockholders. The interests of this group of stockholders may not always coincide with your interests or the interests of other
stockholders and they may act in a manner that advances their best interests and not necessarily those of other stockholders, including seeking a
premium value for their common stock, and might affect the prevailing market price for our common stock.
We are an emerging growth company, and intend to take advantage of reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging
growth companies, which could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business
Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest to occur of (1) the last day of the fiscal year in
which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.07 billion or more; (2) December 31, 2022 (the last day of the fiscal year ending after the fifth
anniversary of our initial public offering); (3) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities during the
prior three-year period; or (4) the date we qualify as a “large accelerated filer” under the rules of the SEC, which means the market value of our
common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter.
For so long as we remain an emerging growth company, we are permitted and intend to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements
that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
In addition, the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying
with new or revised accounting standards. This allows an emerging growth company to delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until
those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or
revised accounting standards and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that
are not emerging growth companies.
Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware or Washington law could make an acquisition of us, which may
be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current
management.
Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and our restated bylaws may discourage, delay, or prevent a merger, acquisition, or
other change in control of our company that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which you might otherwise receive a
premium for your shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common
stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock. In addition, because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the
members of our management team, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current
management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors. Among other things, these provisions:
•

establish a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board are elected at one time;

•

permit only the board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill vacancies on the board;
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•

provide that directors may only be removed “for cause” and only with the approval of two-thirds of our stockholders;

•

require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws;

•

authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board could use to implement a stockholder rights plan, also known
as a “poison pill”;

•

eliminate the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

•

prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

prohibit cumulative voting; and

•

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

Moreover, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or DGCL, which prohibits a person
who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us for a period of three years after the date of the
transaction in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a
prescribed manner. Likewise, because our principal executive offices are located in Washington, the anti-takeover provisions of the Washington
Business Corporation Act may apply to us under certain circumstances now or in the future. These provisions prohibit a “target corporation” from
engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any stockholder constituting an “acquiring person” for a period of five years
following the date on which the stockholder became an “acquiring person.”
Any of these provisions of our charter documents or Delaware or Washington law could, under certain circumstances, depress the market
price of our common stock. See “Description of Capital Stock.”
Our restated certificate of incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for
certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to
obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees, or agents.
Our restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware, or the Court of Chancery, will be the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any
action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, employees, or agents to us or our stockholders, any
action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our restated certificate of incorporation or our restated bylaws or any action
asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in each case subject to the Court of Chancery having personal jurisdiction over
the indispensable parties named as defendants therein and the claim not being one that is vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum
other than the Court of Chancery or for which the Court of Chancery does not have subject matter jurisdiction. Any person purchasing or otherwise
acquiring any interest in any shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to this provision of our restated
certificate of incorporation.
This choice of forum provision may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with
us or our directors, officers, employees, or agents, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, employees, and
agents even though an action, if successful, might benefit our stockholders. Stockholders who do bring a claim in the Court of Chancery could
face additional litigation costs in pursuing any such claim, particularly if they do not reside in or near Delaware. The Court of Chancery may also
reach different judgments or results than would other
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courts, including courts where a stockholder considering an action may be located or would otherwise choose to bring the action, and such
judgments or results may be more favorable to us than to our stockholders. Alternatively, if a court were to find this provision of our restated
certificate of incorporation inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may
incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
From April 1, 2017 through June 30, 2017, we issued and sold to our employees, consultants, and other service providers an aggregate of
unregistered 104,889 shares of common stock upon the exercise of stock options under our Amended and Restated 2004 Equity Incentive Plan at
per share exercise prices ranging from $0.36 to $8.97.
None of the foregoing transactions involved any underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions, or any public offering. We believe
the offers, sales and issuances of the above securities were exempt from registration under the Securities Act by virtue of Section 4(a)(2) of the
Securities Act (or Regulation D promulgated thereunder) because the issuance of securities to the recipients did not involve a public offering, or in
reliance on Rule 701 because the transactions were pursuant to compensatory benefit plans or contracts relating to compensation as provided
under such rule. The recipients of the securities in each of these transactions represented their intentions to acquire the securities for investment
only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were placed upon the stock certificates
issued in these transactions. All recipients had adequate access, through their relationships with us, to information about us. The sales of these
securities were made without any general solicitation or advertising.
Use of Proceeds
On July 27, 2017, the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-219093) for our initial public offering of our common stock was
declared effective by the SEC. The offering commenced on July 28, 2017 and did not terminate until the sale of all of the shares offered. Goldman
Sachs & Co. LLC and Allen & Company LLC acted as lead book-running managers for the offering, and BofA Merrill Lynch, RBC Capital Markets,
Oppenheimer & Co., and Stifel acted as co-managers. Shares of our common stock began trading on NASDAQ on July 28, 2017.
We registered an aggregate of 10,615,650 shares of our common stock, including 1,384,650 shares pursuant to the underwriters’ option to
purchase additional shares. On August 2, 2017 we closed the sale of all 10,615,650 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of
$15.00 per share for an aggregate gross offering price of approximately $159.2 million.
We paid to the underwriters of our IPO an underwriting discount totaling approximately $11.1 million. In addition, we incurred estimated
expenses of approximately $3.9 million which, when added to the underwriting discount, amounted to total expenses of approximately $15.1
million. Thus, the net offering proceeds to us, after deducting underwriting discounts and estimated offering expenses, were approximately $144.1
million. No offering expenses were paid directly or indirectly to any of our directors or officers (or their associates) or persons owning 10.0% or
more of any class of our equity securities or to any other affiliates.
There has been no material change in the planned use of IPO proceeds from that described in the final prospectus filed with the SEC
pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, on July 28, 2017.

59

Table of Contents
Item 6: Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation

3.2

Restated Bylaws

4.1

Form of Common Stock Certificate

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Filed Herewith
X
X

S-1/A

333219093

4.1

July 26, 2017

S-1/A

333219093

10.1

July 17, 2017

S-1

333219093

10.2

June 30, 2017

S-1/A

333219093

10.3

July 17, 2017
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Date: September 8, 2017
REDFIN CORPORATION

By:

/s/ Glenn Kelman
Glenn Kelman
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:

/s/ Chris Nielsen
Chris Nielsen
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 3.1
REDFIN CORPORATION
RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
Redfin Corporation, a Delaware corporation, hereby certifies as follows.
1. The name of the corporation is Redfin Corporation. The date of filing its original Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State was
February 22, 2005 under the name Appliance Computing Inc.
2. The Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, which is incorporated herein by this reference,
and which restates, integrates and further amends the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation of this corporation as previously amended or
supplemented, has been duly adopted by the Board of Directors and by the stockholders in accordance with Sections 242 and 245 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, with the approval of the corporation’s stockholders having been given by written consent without a meeting in
accordance with Section 228 of the Delaware General Corporation Law.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this corporation has caused this Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be signed by its duly authorized officer
and the foregoing facts stated herein are true and correct.

Dated: August 2, 2017

REDFIN CORPORATION
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Glenn Kelman
Glenn Kelman
Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT “A”
REDFIN CORPORATION
RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
ARTICLE I: NAME
The name of the corporation is Redfin Corporation (the “Corporation”).
ARTICLE II: AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS
The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover, County of Kent,
Delaware 19904. The name of the registered agent of the Corporation at that address is National Registered Agents, Inc.
ARTICLE III: PURPOSE
The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
ARTICLE IV: AUTHORIZED STOCK
1. Total Authorized. The total number of shares of all classes of stock that the Corporation has authority to issue is Five Hundred Ten
Million (510,000,000) shares, consisting of two classes: Five Hundred Million (500,000,000) shares of Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share
(“Common Stock”), and Ten Million (10,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value per share (“Preferred Stock”).
2. Designation of Additional Series.
2.1. The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) is authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by the law of the State of
Delaware, to provide for the issuance of the shares of Preferred Stock in one or more series, and, by filing a Certificate of Designation pursuant to
the applicable law of the State of Delaware, to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each such series, to fix the
designation, vesting, powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other rights, if any, of the shares of each such series and any
qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, and to increase (but not above the total number of authorized shares of the class) or decrease (but
not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding) the number of shares of any such series. The number of authorized shares of
Preferred Stock may also be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the
holders of two-thirds of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon, without a
vote of the holders of the Preferred Stock, unless a vote of any other holders is required pursuant to the terms of any certificate or certificates
establishing a series of Preferred Stock; provided, however, that if two-thirds of the Whole Board, as defined below, has approved such increase or
decrease of the number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock, then only the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of
all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a
single class, without a vote of the holders of the Preferred Class (unless a vote of any other holders is required pursuant to the terms of any
certificate or certificates establishing a series of Preferred Stock) shall be required to effect such increase or decrease. For purposes of this
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the term “Whole Board” shall mean the total number of authorized directors whether or not there exist any
vacancies in previously authorized directorships.

2.2 Except as otherwise expressly provided in any Certificate of Designation designating any series of Preferred Stock pursuant to the
foregoing provisions of this Article IV, any new series of Preferred Stock may be designated, fixed and determined as provided herein by the Board
without approval of the holders of Common Stock or the holders of Preferred Stock, or any series thereof, and any such new series may have
powers, preferences and rights, including, without limitation, voting rights, dividend rights, liquidation rights, redemption rights and conversion
rights, senior to, junior to or pari passu with the rights of the Common Stock, the Preferred Stock or any future class or series of Preferred Stock
or Common Stock.
2.3 Each outstanding share of Common Stock shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote on each matter properly submitted to the
stockholders of the Corporation for their vote; provided, however, that, except as otherwise required by law, holders of Common Stock shall not be
entitled to vote on any amendment to this Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including any Certificate of Designation relating to any series of
Preferred Stock) that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected series are
entitled, either separately or together as a class with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon pursuant to this Restated
Certificate of Incorporation (including any Certificate of Designation relating to any series of Preferred Stock).
ARTICLE V: AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS
The Board shall have the power to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation. Any adoption, amendment or repeal of the Bylaws
of the Corporation by the Board shall require the approval of a majority of the Whole Board. The stockholders shall also have power to adopt,
amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation; provided, however, that in addition to any vote of the holders of any class or series of stock of the
Corporation required by law or by this Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including any Preferred Stock issued pursuant to a Certificate of
Designation), the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital stock
of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to adopt, amend or
repeal any provision of the Bylaws; provided further, that if two-thirds of the Whole Board has approved such adoption, amendment or repeal of any
provisions of the Bylaws, then only the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the
capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to adopt,
amend or repeal any provision of the Bylaws.
ARTICLE VI: MATTERS RELATING TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
1. Director Powers. The conduct of the affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board. In addition to the
powers and authority expressly conferred upon them by statute or by this Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws of the Corporation,
the directors are hereby empowered to exercise all such powers and do all such acts and things as may be exercised or done by the Corporation.
2. Number of Directors. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under specified
circumstances, the number of directors shall be fixed from time to time exclusively by resolution adopted by a majority of the Whole Board.
3. Classified Board. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect additional directors under specified
circumstances, the directors shall be divided, with respect to the time for which they severally hold office, into three classes designated as Class
I, Class II and Class III, respectively (the “Classified Board”). The Board may assign members of the Board already in office to the Classified
Board, which assignments shall become effective at the same time the Classified Board becomes effective. Directors shall be assigned to each
class in accordance with a resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board, with the number of directors in each class to be divided as nearly equal
as reasonably possible. The initial term of office of the Class I directors shall expire at the Corporation’s first annual meeting of stockholders
following the closing of the Corporation’s initial public offering pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the

“Securities Act”), relating to the offer and sale of Common Stock to the public (the “Initial Public Offering”), the initial term of office of the Class
II directors shall expire at the Corporation’s second annual meeting of stockholders following the closing of the Initial Public Offering and the initial
term of office of the Class III directors shall expire at the Corporation’s third annual meeting of stockholders following the closing of the Initial
Public Offering. At each annual meeting of stockholders following the closing of the Initial Public Offering, directors elected to succeed those
directors of the class whose terms then expire shall be elected for a term of office to expire at the third succeeding annual meeting of stockholders
after their election.
4. Term and Removal. Each director shall hold office until such director’s successor is elected and qualified, or until such director’s earlier
death, resignation or removal. Any director may resign at any time upon notice to the Corporation given in writing or by any electronic transmission
permitted in the Corporation’s Bylaws. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, no director may be removed except for
cause and only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of the then-outstanding shares of capital stock of
the Corporation then entitled to vote at an election of directors voting together as a single class. No decrease in the authorized number of directors
constituting the Board shall shorten the term of any incumbent director.
5. Board Vacancies. Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock, any vacancy occurring in the Board for any cause,
and any newly created directorship resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors, shall, unless (a) the Board determines by
resolution that any such vacancies or newly created directorships shall be filled by the stockholders or (b) as otherwise provided by law, be filled
only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, and not by the
stockholders. Any director elected in accordance with the preceding sentence shall hold office for a term expiring at the annual meeting of
stockholders at which the term of office of the class to which the director has been assigned expires or until such director’s successor shall have
been duly elected and qualified, or until such director’s earlier death, resignation or removal.
6. Vote by Ballot. Election of directors need not be by written ballot unless the Bylaws of the Corporation shall so provide.
ARTICLE VII: DIRECTOR LIABILITY
1. Limitation of Liability. To the fullest extent permitted by law, no director of the Corporation shall be personally liable for monetary
damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director. Without limiting the effect of the preceding sentence, if the Delaware General Corporation Law
is hereafter amended to authorize the further elimination or limitation of the liability of a director, then the liability of a director of the Corporation
shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law, as so amended.
2. Change in Rights. Neither any amendment nor repeal of this Article VII, nor the adoption of any provision of this Restated Certificate of
Incorporation inconsistent with this Article VII, shall eliminate, reduce or otherwise adversely affect any limitation on the personal liability of a
director of the Corporation existing at the time of such amendment, repeal or adoption of such an inconsistent provision.
ARTICLE VIII: MATTERS RELATING TO STOCKHOLDERS
1. No Action by Written Consent of Stockholders. Subject to the rights of any series of Preferred Stock, no action shall be taken by the
stockholders of the Corporation except at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and no action shall be taken by the stockholders
by written consent.
2. Special Meeting of Stockholders. Special meetings of the stockholders of the Corporation may be called only by the Chairperson of the
Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, or the Board acting pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Whole Board.

3. Advance Notice of Stockholder Nominations and Business Transacted at Special Meetings. Advance notice of stockholder
nominations for the election of directors of the Corporation and of business to be brought by stockholders before any meeting of stockholders of
the Corporation shall be given in the manner provided in the Bylaws of the Corporation. Business transacted at special meetings of stockholders
shall be confined to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting.
ARTICLE IX: CHOICE OF FORUM
Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be
the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation; (b) any action asserting a claim of
breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation’s stockholders;
(c) any action asserting a claim against the Corporation arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law, this Restated
Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylaws; (d) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of this Restated Certificate of
Incorporation or the Bylaws; or (e) any action asserting a claim against the Corporation governed by the internal affairs doctrine.
Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America
shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have
notice of and to have consented to the provisions of this Article IX.
ARTICLE X: AMENDMENT OF RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
If any provision of this Restated Certificate of Incorporation becomes or is declared on any ground by a court of competent jurisdiction to be
illegal, unenforceable or void, portions of such provision, or such provision in its entirety, to the extent necessary, shall be severed from this
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and the court will replace such illegal, void or unenforceable provision of this Restated Certificate of
Incorporation with a valid and enforceable provision that most accurately reflects the Corporation’s intent, in order to achieve, to the maximum
extent possible, the same economic, business and other purposes of the illegal, void or unenforceable provision. The balance of this Restated
Certificate of Incorporation shall be enforceable in accordance with its terms.
The Corporation reserves the right to amend or repeal any provision contained in this Restated Certificate of Incorporation in the manner
prescribed by the laws of the State of Delaware and all rights conferred upon stockholders are granted subject to this
reservation; provided, however, that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Restated Certificate of Incorporation or any provision of law that
might otherwise permit a lesser vote or no vote, but in addition to any vote of the holders of any class or series of the stock of the Corporation
required by law or by this Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of all of
the then-outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single
class, shall be required to amend or repeal any provision of this Restated Certificate of Incorporation; provided, further, that if two-thirds of the
Whole Board has approved such amendment or repeal of any provisions of this Restated Certificate of Incorporation, then only the affirmative vote
of the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to amend or repeal such provisions of this Restated
Certificate of Incorporation.
***********
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REDFIN CORPORATION
(a Delaware corporation)
RESTATED BYLAWS
As Adopted July 12, 2017 and
As Effective August 2, 2017

ARTICLE I: STOCKHOLDERS
Section 1.1: Annual Meetings. An annual meeting of stockholders shall be held for the election of directors at such date and time as
the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board”) shall each year fix. The meeting may be held either at a place, within or without the State of
Delaware as permitted by the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), or by means of remote communication as the Board in its sole
discretion may determine. Any proper business may be transacted at the annual meeting. The Board may postpone, reschedule or cancel any
previously scheduled annual meeting of stockholders.
Section 1.2: Special Meetings. Special meetings of stockholders for any purpose or purposes shall be called in the manner set forth in
the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation (as the same may be amended and/or restated from time to time, the “Certificate of
Incorporation”). The special meeting may be held either at a place, within or without the State of Delaware, or by means of remote communication
as the Board in its sole discretion may determine. Business transacted at any special meeting of stockholders shall be limited to matters relating
to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of the meeting. The Board may postpone, reschedule or cancel any previously scheduled special
meeting of stockholders.
Section 1.3:
Notice of Meetings. Notice of all meetings of stockholders shall be given in writing or by electronic transmission in the
manner provided by applicable law (including, without limitation, as set forth in Section 7.1.1 of these Bylaws) stating the date, time and place, if
any, of the meeting, the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy holders may be deemed to be present in
person and vote at such meeting and the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting. In the case of a special
meeting, such notice shall also set forth the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. Unless otherwise required by applicable law or
the Certificate of Incorporation, notice of any meeting of stockholders shall be given not less than ten (10), nor more than sixty (60), days before
the date of the meeting to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at such meeting.
Section 1.4:
Adjournments. The chairperson of the meeting shall have the power to adjourn the meeting to another time, date and
place (if any). Any meeting of stockholders, annual or special, may be adjourned from time to time, and notice need not be given of any such
adjourned meeting if the time, date and place (if any) thereof and the means of remote communications (if any) by which stockholders and proxy
holders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such adjourned meeting are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is
taken; provided, however, that if the adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each
stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. At the adjourned meeting the Corporation may transact any business that might have been
transacted at the original meeting.
Section 1.5:
Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, at each
meeting of stockholders the holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares of stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the
meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business; provided, however, that where a
separate vote by a class or classes or series of stock is required by applicable law or the Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of a majority of
the voting power of the shares of such class or classes or series of the stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote on such matter, present
in person or represented by proxy at the meeting, shall constitute a quorum entitled to take action with respect to the vote on such matter. If a
quorum shall fail to attend any meeting, the chairperson of the meeting or, if directed to be voted on by the chairperson of the meeting, the holders
of a majority of the voting power of the shares entitled to vote who are present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting may adjourn the
meeting. Shares
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of the Corporation’s stock belonging to the Corporation (or to another corporation, if a majority of the shares entitled to vote in the election of
directors of such other corporation are held, directly or indirectly, by the Corporation), shall neither be entitled to vote nor be counted for quorum
purposes; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not limit the right of the Corporation or any other corporation to vote any shares of the
Corporation’s stock held by it in a fiduciary capacity and to count such shares for purposes of determining a quorum. A quorum, once established
at a meeting, shall not be broken by the withdrawal of enough votes to leave less than a quorum.
Section 1.6: Organization. Meetings of stockholders shall be presided over by (a) such person as the Board may designate, or (b) in
the absence of such a person, the Chairperson of the Board, or, (c) in the absence of such person, the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation,
or (d) in the absence of such person, the President of the Corporation, or (e) in the absence of such person, by a Vice President. Such person
shall be chairperson of the meeting and, subject to Section 1.10 hereof, shall determine the order of business and the procedure at the meeting,
including such regulation of the manner of voting and the conduct of discussion as seems to him or her to be in order. The Secretary of the
Corporation shall act as secretary of the meeting, but in such person’s absence the chairperson of the meeting may appoint any person to act as
secretary of the meeting.
Section 1.7: Voting; Proxies. Each stockholder of record entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders may authorize another person or
persons to act for such stockholder by proxy. Such a proxy may be prepared, transmitted and delivered in any manner permitted by applicable law.
Except as may be required in the Certificate of Incorporation, directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes of the shares present in person
or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors. Unless otherwise provided by applicable law, rule or
regulation applicable to the Corporation or its securities, the rules or regulations of any stock exchange applicable to the Corporation, the
Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, every matter other than the election of directors shall be decided by the affirmative vote of the holders
of a majority of the voting power of the shares of stock entitled to vote on such matter that are present in person or represented by proxy at the
meeting and are voted for or against the matter (or if there are two or more classes or series of stock entitled to vote as separate classes, then in
the case of each class or series, the holders of a majority of the voting power of the shares of stock of that class or series present in person or
represented by proxy at the meeting voting for or against such matter).
Section 1.8: Fixing Date for Determination of Stockholders of Record. In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders
entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, the Board may fix a record date, which record date shall
not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board, and which record date shall, unless otherwise
required by law, not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting. If no record date is fixed by the Board,
the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the
day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which
the meeting is held. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any
adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board may fix a new record date for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the
adjourned meeting.
In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment
of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful
action, the Board may fix, in advance, a record date, which shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted
by the Board and which shall not be more than sixty (60) days prior to such action. If no such record date is fixed by the Board, then the record
date for determining stockholders for any such purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board adopts the resolution
relating thereto.
Section 1.9:
List of Stockholders Entitled to Vote. The Secretary shall prepare, at least ten (10) days before every meeting of
stockholders, a complete list of stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting (provided, however, if the record date for determining the stockholders
entitled to vote is less than ten (10) days before the date of the meeting, the list shall reflect the stockholders entitled to vote as of the tenth (10th)
day before the meeting date), arranged in alphabetical order and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in
the name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open
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to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting, (a) on a
reasonably accessible electronic network as permitted by applicable law (provided that the information required to gain access to the list is
provided with the notice of the meeting), or (b) during ordinary business hours, at the principal place of business of the Corporation. If the meeting
is held at a place, the list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof and may be inspected
by any stockholder who is present at the meeting. If the meeting is held solely by means of remote communication, then the list shall be open to
the examination of any stockholder during the whole time of the meeting on a reasonably accessible electronic network, and the information
required to access the list shall be provided with the notice of the meeting. Except as otherwise provided by law, the list shall presumptively
determine the identity of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting and the number of shares held by each of them.
Section 1.10:

Inspectors of Elections.

1.10.1 Applicability. Unless otherwise required by the Certificate of Incorporation or by the DGCL, the following provisions of this Section
1.10 shall apply only if and when the Corporation has a class of voting stock that is: (a) listed on a national securities exchange; (b) authorized for
quotation on an interdealer quotation system of a registered national securities association; or (c) held of record by more than two thousand (2,000)
stockholders. In all other cases, observance of the provisions of this Section 1.10 shall be optional, and at the discretion of the Board.
1.10.2 Appointment. The Corporation shall, in advance of any meeting of stockholders, appoint one or more inspectors of election to act
at the meeting and make a written report thereof. The Corporation may designate one or more persons as alternate inspectors to replace any
inspector who fails to act. If no inspector or alternate is able to act at a meeting of stockholders, the person presiding at the meeting shall appoint
one or more inspectors to act at the meeting.
1 . 1 0 . 3 Inspector’s Oath. Each inspector of election, before entering upon the discharge of his duties, shall take and sign an oath
faithfully to execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and according to the best of such inspector’s ability.
1 . 1 0 . 4 Duties of Inspectors. At a meeting of stockholders, the inspectors of election shall (a) ascertain the number of shares
outstanding and the voting power of each share, (b) determine the shares represented at a meeting and the validity of proxies and ballots, (c) count
all votes and ballots, (d) determine and retain for a reasonable period of time a record of the disposition of any challenges made to any
determination by the inspectors, and (e) certify their determination of the number of shares represented at the meeting, and their count of all votes
and ballots. The inspectors may appoint or retain other persons or entities to assist the inspectors in the performance of the duties of the
inspectors.
1. 10. 5 Opening and Closing of Polls. The date and time of the opening and the closing of the polls for each matter upon which the
stockholders will vote at a meeting shall be announced by the chairperson of the meeting at the meeting. No ballot, proxies or votes, nor any
revocations thereof or changes thereto, shall be accepted by the inspectors after the closing of the polls unless the Court of Chancery upon
application by a stockholder shall determine otherwise.
1.10.6 Determinations. In determining the validity and counting of proxies and ballots, the inspectors shall be limited to an examination
of the proxies, any envelopes submitted with those proxies, any information provided in connection with proxies pursuant to Section 211(a)(2)b.(i)
of the DGCL, or in accordance with Sections 211(e) or 212(c)(2) of the DGCL, ballots and the regular books and records of the Corporation, except
that the inspectors may consider other reliable information for the limited purpose of reconciling proxies and ballots submitted by or on behalf of
banks, brokers, their nominees or similar persons which represent more votes than the holder of a proxy is authorized by the record owner to cast
or more votes than the stockholder holds of record. If the inspectors consider other reliable information for the limited purpose permitted herein, the
inspectors at the time they make their certification of their determinations pursuant to this Section 1.10 shall specify the precise information
considered by them, including the person or persons from whom they obtained the information, when the information was obtained, the means by
which the information was obtained and the basis for the inspectors’ belief that such information is accurate and reliable.
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Section 1.11:
1.11.1

Notice of Stockholder Business; Nominations.

Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

(a) Nominations of persons for election to the Board and the proposal of other business to be considered by the stockholders at
an annual meeting of stockholders shall be made (i) pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of such meeting, (ii) by or at the direction of the Board or
(iii) by any stockholder of the Corporation who was a stockholder of record at the time of giving of the notice provided for in this Section 1.11, who
is entitled to vote at such meeting and who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 1.11.
(b)

For nominations or other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder pursuant to Section

1.11.1(a):
(i)

the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation;

(ii)
such other business (other than the nomination of persons for election to the Board) must otherwise be a proper
matter for stockholder action;
(iii) if the stockholder, or the beneficial owner on whose behalf any such proposal or nomination is made, has provided
the Corporation with a Solicitation Notice, as that term is defined in this Section 1.11, such stockholder or beneficial owner must, in the
case of a proposal other than the nomination of persons for election to the Board, have delivered a proxy statement and form of proxy to
holders of at least the percentage of the Corporation’s voting shares required under applicable law to carry any such proposal, or, in the
case of a nomination or nominations, have delivered a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of a percentage of the Corporation’s
voting shares reasonably believed by such stockholder or beneficial holder to be sufficient to elect the nominee or nominees proposed to
be nominated by such stockholder, and must, in either case, have included in such materials the Solicitation Notice; and
(iv) if no Solicitation Notice relating thereto has been timely provided pursuant to this Section 1.11, the stockholder or
beneficial owner proposing such business or nomination must not have solicited a number of proxies sufficient to have required the
delivery of such a Solicitation Notice under this Section 1.11.
To be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be delivered to the Secretary at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close
of business on the seventy-fifth (75th) day nor earlier than the close of business on the one hundred and fifth (105th) day prior to the first
anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting (except in the case of the 2018 annual meeting, for which such notice shall be timely if
delivered in the same time period as if such meeting were a special meeting governed by Section 1.11.2); provided, however, that in the event that
the date of the annual meeting is more than thirty (30) days before or more than sixty (60) days after such anniversary date, notice by the
stockholder to be timely must be so delivered (A) no earlier than the close of business on the one hundred and fifth (105th) day prior to such
annual meeting and (B) no later than the close of business on the later of the seventy-fifth (75th) day prior to such annual meeting or the close of
business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which Public Announcement of the date of such meeting is first made by the Corporation.
Such stockholder’s notice shall set forth:
(x) as to each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a director, all information
relating to such person that would be required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of directors, or would be otherwise
required, in each case pursuant to and in accordance with Section 14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, including such person’s written consent to being named in the
proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected;
(y)
as to any other business that the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a brief description of the
business desired to be brought before the meeting, the text of the
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proposal or business (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and in the event that such business includes a
proposal to amend the Bylaws, the text of the proposed amendment), the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting and any
material interest in such business of such stockholder and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made; and
(z) as to the stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal
is made, (i) the name and address of such stockholder, as they appear on the Corporation’s books, and of such beneficial owner, (ii) the
class or series and number of shares of capital stock of the Corporation that are directly or indirectly owned beneficially and held of record
by such stockholder and such beneficial owner, including any option, warrant, convertible security, stock appreciation right, or similar right
with an exercise or conversion privilege or a settlement payment or mechanism at a price related to any class or series of shares of
capital stock of the Corporation or with a value derived in whole or in part from the value of any class or series of shares of capital stock
of the Corporation, whether or not such instrument or right shall be subject to settlement in the underlying class or series of capital stock
of the Corporation or otherwise directly or indirectly owned beneficially by such stockholder or beneficial owner, and any other direct or
indirect opportunity to profit or share in any profit derived from any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Corporation, (iii) a
description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding with respect to the nomination or proposal between or among such
stockholder or such beneficial owner, any of their respective affiliates or associates, and any others acting in concert with any of the
foregoing, including, in the case of a nomination, the nominee, (iv) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding
(including any derivative or short positions, profit interests, options, warrants, convertible securities, stock appreciation or similar rights,
hedging transactions, and borrowed or loaned shares) that has been entered into as of the date of the stockholder’s notice by, or on behalf
of, such stockholder and any such beneficial owner, whether or not such instrument or right shall be subject to settlement in underlying
shares of capital stock of the Corporation, the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, manage risk or benefit of share price changes
for, or increase or decrease the voting power of, such stockholder or such beneficial owner, with respect to securities of the Corporation,
(v) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and intends to
appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such business or nomination, (vi) a representation whether such stockholder or
beneficial owner intends (or is part of a group that intends) to deliver a proxy statement or form of proxy to holders of, in the case of a
proposal, at least the percentage of the Corporation’s voting shares required under applicable law to carry the proposal or, in the case of a
nomination or nominations, a sufficient number of holders of the Corporation’s voting shares to elect such nominee or nominees (an
affirmative statement of such intent being a “Solicitation Notice”), (vii) any proxy, contract, arrangement, or relationship pursuant to which
the stockholder or beneficial owner has a right to vote, directly or indirectly, any shares of any security of the Corporation, and (viii) any
other information relating to such stockholder and beneficial owner, if any, required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other filings
required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the proposal or for the election of directors in an election
contest pursuant to and in accordance with Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
(c)
Notwithstanding anything in the second sentence of Section 1.11.1(b) to the contrary, in the event that the number of
directors to be elected to the Board is increased and there is no Public Announcement by the Corporation naming all of the nominees for director or
specifying the size of the increased Board at least seventy five (75) days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting (or, if
the annual meeting is held more than thirty (30) days before or sixty (60) days after such anniversary date, at least seventy five (75) days prior to
such annual meeting), a stockholder’s notice required by this Section 1.11 shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for
any new positions created by such increase, if it shall be delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive office of the
Corporation no later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which such Public Announcement is first made by the
Corporation.
1.11.2 Special Meetings of Stockholders. Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have
been brought before the meeting pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of such meeting. Nominations of persons for election to the Board may be
made at a special meeting of
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stockholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of such meeting (a) by or at the direction of the Board or (b)
provided that the Board has determined that directors shall be elected at such meeting, by any stockholder of the Corporation who is a stockholder
of record at the time of giving of notice of the special meeting, who shall be entitled to vote at the meeting and who complies with the notice
procedures set forth in this Section 1.11. In the event the Corporation calls a special meeting of stockholders for the purpose of electing one or
more directors to the Board, any such stockholder may nominate a person or persons (as the case may be), for election to such position(s) as
specified in the Corporation’s notice of meeting, if the stockholder’s notice required by Section 1.11.1(b) shall be delivered to the Secretary of the
Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation (i) no earlier than the one hundred fifth (105th) day prior to such special meeting
and (ii) no later than the close of business on the later of the seventy-fifth (75th) day prior to such special meeting or the tenth (10th) day following
the day on which Public Announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board to be elected
at such meeting.
1.11.3

General.

(a) Only such persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.11 shall be eligible to be
elected at a meeting of stockholders and serve as directors and only such business shall be conducted at a meeting of stockholders as shall have
been brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.11. Except as otherwise provided by law or these
Bylaws, the chairperson of the meeting shall have the power and duty to determine whether a nomination or any other business proposed to be
brought before the meeting was made or proposed, as the case may be, in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.11 and, if
any proposed nomination or business is not in compliance herewith, to declare that such defective proposal or nomination shall be disregarded.
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.11, unless otherwise required by law, if the stockholder (or a qualified representative of
the stockholder) does not appear at the annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation to present a nomination or proposed
business, such nomination shall be disregarded and such proposed business shall not be transacted, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of
such vote may have been received by the Corporation. For purposes of this Section 1.11, to be considered a qualified representative of the
stockholder, a person must be a duly authorized officer, manager or partner of such stockholder or must be authorized by a writing executed by
such stockholder or an electronic transmission delivered by such stockholder to act for such stockholder as proxy at the meeting of stockholders
and such person must produce such writing or electronic transmission, or a reliable reproduction of the writing or electronic transmission, at the
meeting of stockholders.
(b) For purposes of this Section 1.11, the term “Public Announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by
the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press, Reuters or comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the Corporation
with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.
(c)
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.11, a stockholder shall also comply with all applicable
requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set forth herein. Nothing in this Section
1.11 shall be deemed to affect any rights of (a) stockholders to request inclusion of proposals in the Corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to
Rule 14a-8 under the Exchange Act or (b) the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors pursuant to any applicable provisions of
the Certificate of Incorporation.
ARTICLE II: BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Section 2.1: Number; Qualifications. The total number of directors constituting the Board (the “Whole Board”) shall be fixed from time
to time in the manner set forth in the Certificate of Incorporation. No decrease in the authorized number of directors constituting the Whole Board
shall shorten the term of any incumbent director. Directors need not be stockholders of the Corporation.
Section 2.2:
Election; Resignation; Removal; Vacancies. Election of directors need not be by written ballot. Unless otherwise
provided by the Certificate of Incorporation and subject to the special rights of holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors, the Board
shall be divided into three classes, designated: Class I, Class II and Class III. Each class shall consist, as nearly as may be possible, of one-third
of the Whole Board. Each director shall hold office until the annual meeting at which such
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director’s term expires and until such director’s successor is elected and qualified or until such director’s earlier death, resignation, disqualification
or removal. Any director may resign by delivering a resignation in writing or by electronic transmission to the Corporation at its principal office or to
the Chairperson of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Secretary. Such resignation shall be effective upon delivery unless
it is specified to be effective at a later time or upon the happening of an event. Subject to the special rights of holders of any series of Preferred
Stock to elect directors, directors may be removed only as provided by the Certificate of Incorporation and applicable law. All vacancies occurring
in the Board and any newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the authorized number of directors shall be filled in the manner set
forth in the Certificate of Incorporation.
Section 2.3:
Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board may be held at such places, within or without the State of Delaware,
and at such times as the Board may from time to time determine. Notice of regular meetings need not be given if the date, times and places
thereof are fixed by resolution of the Board.
Section 2.4:
Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chairperson of the Board, the Chief Executive
Officer or a majority of the members of the Board then in office and may be held at any time, date or place, within or without the State of Delaware,
as the person or persons calling the meeting shall fix. Notice of the time, date and place of such meeting shall be given, orally, in writing or by
electronic transmission (including electronic mail), by the person or persons calling the meeting to all directors at least four (4) days before the
meeting if the notice is mailed, or at least twenty-four (24) hours before the meeting if such notice is given by telephone, hand delivery, telegram,
telex, mailgram, facsimile, electronic mail or other means of electronic transmission. Unless otherwise indicated in the notice, any and all business
may be transacted at a special meeting.
Section 2.5: Remote Meetings Permitted. Members of the Board, or any committee of the Board, may participate in a meeting of the
Board or such committee by means of conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in
the meeting can hear each other, and participation in a meeting pursuant to conference telephone or other communications equipment shall
constitute presence in person at such meeting.
Section 2.6: Quorum; Vote Required for Action. At all meetings of the Board, a majority of the Whole Board shall constitute a quorum
for the transaction of business. If a quorum shall fail to attend any meeting, a majority of those present may adjourn the meeting to another place,
date or time without further notice thereof. Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Certificate of Incorporation, or required by law, the vote of
a majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board.
Section 2.7: Organization. Meetings of the Board shall be presided over by (a) the Chairperson of the Board, or (b) in such person’s
absence, by the Chief Executive Officer, or (c) in such person’s absence, by a chairperson chosen by the Board at the meeting. The Secretary
shall act as secretary of the meeting, but in such person’s absence the chairperson of the meeting may appoint any person to act as secretary of
the meeting.
Section 2.8: Unanimous Action by Directors in Lieu of a Meeting. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the
Board, or of any committee thereof, may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board or such committee, as the case may be, consent
thereto in writing or by electronic transmission, and the writing or writings or electronic transmission or transmissions are filed with the minutes of
proceedings of the Board or committee, as applicable. Such filing shall be in paper form if the minutes are maintained in paper form and shall be in
electronic form if the minutes are maintained in electronic form.
Section 2.9:
Powers. Except as otherwise provided by the Certificate of Incorporation or the DGCL, the business and affairs of the
Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board.
Section 2.10: Compensation of Directors. Members of the Board, as such, may receive, pursuant to a resolution of the Board, fees
and other compensation for their services as directors, including without limitation their services as members of committees of the Board.
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ARTICLE III: COMMITTEES
Section 3.1:
Committees. The Board may designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the
directors of the Corporation. The Board may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent
or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of the committee, the member or
members thereof present at any meeting of such committee who are not disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members
constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board to act at the meeting in place of any such absent or disqualified
member. Any such committee, to the extent provided in a resolution of the Board, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the
Board in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers
that may require it; but no such committee shall have the power or authority in reference to the following matters: (a) approving, adopting, or
recommending to the stockholders any action or matter (other than the election or removal of members of the Board) expressly required by the
DGCL to be submitted to stockholders for approval or (b) adopting, amending or repealing any bylaw of the Corporation.
Section 3.2: Committee Rules. Each committee shall keep records of its proceedings and make such reports as the Board may from
time to time request. Unless the Board otherwise provides, each committee designated by the Board may make, alter and repeal rules for the
conduct of its business. In the absence of such rules each committee shall conduct its business in the same manner as the Board conducts its
business pursuant to Article II of these Bylaws. Except as otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws or the resolution of
the Board designating the committee, any committee may create one or more subcommittees, each subcommittee to consist of one or more
members of the committee, and may delegate to any such subcommittee any or all of the powers and authority of the committee.
ARTICLE IV: OFFICERS
Section 4.1: Generally. The officers of the Corporation shall consist of a Chief Executive Officer (who may be the Chairperson of the
Board or the President), a President, a Secretary and a Treasurer and may consist of such other officers, including a Chairperson of the Board,
Chief Technology Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and one or more Vice Presidents, as may from time to time be appointed by the Board. All
officers shall be elected by the Board; provided, however, that the Board may empower the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation to appoint
any officer other than the Chairperson of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, the Chief Technology Officer, the Chief Financial
Officer or the Treasurer. Except as otherwise provided by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, each officer shall hold office
until such officer’s successor is duly elected and qualified or until such officer’s earlier resignation, death, disqualification or removal. Any number
of offices may be held by the same person. Any officer may resign by delivering a resignation in writing or by electronic transmission to the
Corporation at its principal office or to the Chairperson of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, or the Secretary. Such resignation shall be
effective upon delivery unless it is specified to be effective at some later time or upon the happening of some later event. Any vacancy occurring
in any office of the Corporation by death, resignation, removal or otherwise may be filled by the Board and the Board may, in its discretion, leave
unfilled, for such period as it may determine, any offices. Each such successor shall hold office for the unexpired term of such officer’s
predecessor and until a successor is duly elected and qualified or until such officer’s earlier resignation, death, disqualification or removal.
Section 4.2: Chief Executive Officer. Subject to the control of the Board and such supervisory powers, if any, as may be given by the
Board, the powers and duties of the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation are:
(a) To act as the general manager and, subject to the control of the Board, to have general supervision, direction and control of
the business and affairs of the Corporation;
(b)

Subject to Article I, Section 1.6, to preside at all meetings of the stockholders;

(c)
Subject to Article I, Section 1.2, to call special meetings of the stockholders to be held at such times and, subject to the
limitations prescribed by law or by these Bylaws, at such places as he or she shall deem proper; and
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(d)
To affix the signature of the Corporation to all deeds, conveyances, mortgages, guarantees, leases, obligations, bonds,
certificates and other papers and instruments in writing which have been authorized by the Board or which, in the judgment of the Chief
Executive Officer, should be executed on behalf of the Corporation; to sign certificates for shares of stock of the Corporation (if any); and,
subject to the direction of the Board, to have general charge of the property of the Corporation and to supervise and control all officers,
agents and employees of the Corporation.
The person holding the office of President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation unless the Board shall designate another officer
to be the Chief Executive Officer.
Section 4.3: Chairperson of the Board. The Chairperson of the Board shall have the power to preside at all meetings of the Board and
shall have such other powers and duties as provided in these Bylaws and as the Board may from time to time prescribe.
Section 4.4:
President. The person holding the office of Chief Executive Officer shall be the President of the Corporation unless the
Board shall have designated one individual as the President and a different individual as the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. Subject to
the provisions of these Bylaws and to the direction of the Board, and subject to the supervisory powers of the Chief Executive Officer (if the Chief
Executive Officer is an officer other than the President), and subject to such supervisory powers and authority as may be given by the Board to
the Chairperson of the Board, and/or to any other officer, the President shall have the responsibility for the general management and control of the
business and affairs of the Corporation and the general supervision and direction of all of the officers, employees and agents of the Corporation
(other than the Chief Executive Officer, if the Chief Executive Officer is an officer other than the President) and shall perform all duties and have
all powers that are commonly incident to the office of President or that are delegated to the President by the Board.
Section 4.5:
Chief Technology Officer. The Chief Technology Officer shall have responsibility for the general research and
development activities of the Corporation, for supervision of the Corporation’s research and development personnel, for new product development
and product improvements, for overseeing the development and direction of the Corporation’s intellectual property development and such other
responsibilities as may be given to the Chief Technology Officer by the Board, subject to: (a) the provisions of these Bylaws; (b) the direction of
the Board; (c) the supervisory powers of the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation; and (d) those supervisory powers that may be given by the
Board to the Chairperson or Vice Chairperson of the Board.
Section 4.6: Chief Financial Officer. The person holding the office of Chief Financial Officer shall be the Treasurer of the Corporation
unless the Board shall have designated another officer as the Treasurer of the Corporation. Subject to the direction of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer shall perform all duties and have all powers that are commonly incident to the office of Chief
Financial Officer, or as the Board may from time to time prescribe.
Section 4.7: Treasurer. The person holding the office of Treasurer shall have custody of all monies and securities of the Corporation.
The Treasurer shall make such disbursements of the funds of the Corporation as are authorized and shall render from time to time an account of
all such transactions. The Treasurer shall also perform such other duties and have such other powers as are commonly incident to the office of
Treasurer, or as the Board or the Chief Executive Officer may from time to time prescribe.
Section 4.8: Vice President. Each Vice President shall have all such powers and duties as are commonly incident to the office of Vice
President or that are delegated to him or her by the Board or the Chief Executive Officer. A Vice President may be designated by the Board to
perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Chief Executive Officer or President in the event of the Chief Executive Officer’s or President’s
absence or disability.
Section 4.9: Secretary. The Secretary shall issue or cause to be issued all authorized notices for, and shall keep, or cause to be kept,
minutes of all meetings of the stockholders and the Board. The Secretary shall have charge of the corporate minute books and similar records and
shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as are commonly incident to the office of Secretary, or as the Board or the Chief
Executive Officer may from time to time prescribe.
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Section 4.10: Delegation of Authority. The Board may from time to time delegate the powers or duties of any officer of the Corporation
to any other officers or agents of the Corporation, notwithstanding any provision hereof.
Section 4.11: Removal. Any officer of the Corporation shall serve at the pleasure of the Board and may be removed at any time, with or
without cause, by the Board; provided that if the Board has empowered the Chief Executive Officer to appoint any officer of the Corporation, then
such officer may also be removed by the Chief Executive Officer. Such removal shall be without prejudice to the contractual rights of such officer,
if any, with the Corporation.
ARTICLE V: STOCK
Section 5.1:
Certificates; Uncertificated Shares. The shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be uncertificated shares;
provided, however, that the resolution of the Board that the shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be uncertificated shares shall not apply
to shares represented by a certificate until such certificate is surrendered to the Corporation (or the transfer agent or registrar, as the case may
be). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of its stock
shall be certificated shares. Every holder of stock represented by certificates shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in the name of the
Corporation, by the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or the President or a Vice President, and by the
Treasurer or an Assistant Treasurer, or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, of the Corporation, representing the number of shares registered
in certificate form. Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be a facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed
or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such
certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation with the same effect as if such person were an officer, transfer agent or registrar at the
date of issue.
Section 5.2: Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Stock Certificates; Issuance of New Certificates or Uncertificated Shares. The Corporation
may issue a new certificate of stock or uncertificated shares in the place of any certificate previously issued by it, alleged to have been lost,
stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate of stock to be lost, stolen or destroyed, and
the Corporation may require the owner of the lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, or such owner’s legal representative, to agree to indemnify the
Corporation and/or to give the Corporation a bond sufficient to indemnify it, against any claim that may be made against it on account of the
alleged loss, theft or destruction of any such certificate or the issuance of such new certificate or uncertificated shares.
Section 5.3:
Other Regulations. Subject to applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation and these Bylaws, the issue, transfer,
conversion and registration of shares represented by certificates and of uncertificated shares shall be governed by such other regulations as the
Board may establish.
ARTICLE VI: INDEMNIFICATION
Section 6.1: Indemnification of Officers and Directors. Each person who was or is made a party to, or is threatened to be made a
party to, or is involved in any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, legislative or any
other type whatsoever (a “Proceeding”), by reason of the fact that such person (or a person of whom such person is the legal representative), is or
was a director or officer of the Corporation or, while serving as a director or officer of the Corporation, is or was serving at the request of the
Corporation as a director, officer, employee, agent or trustee of another corporation, or of a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise,
including service with respect to employee benefit plans (for purposes of this Article VI, an “Indemnitee”), shall be indemnified and held harmless
by the Corporation to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL as the same exists or may hereafter be amended (but, in the case of any such
amendment, only to the extent that such amendment permits the Corporation to provide broader indemnification rights than such law permitted the
Corporation to provide prior to such amendment), against all expenses, liability and loss (including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, ERISA excise
taxes and penalties and amounts paid or to be paid in settlement) reasonably incurred or suffered by such Indemnitee in connection therewith,
provided such Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner that the Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests
of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or Proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe the Indemnitee’s conduct was
unlawful. Such indemnification shall continue as to an Indemnitee
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who has ceased to be a director or officer of the Corporation and shall inure to the benefit of such Indemnitees’ heirs, executors and
administrators. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subject to Section 6.5 of this Article VI, the Corporation shall indemnify any such Indemnitee
seeking indemnity in connection with a Proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such Indemnitee only if such Proceeding (or part thereof) was
authorized by the Board or such indemnification is authorized by an agreement approved by the Board.
Section 6.2:
Advance of Expenses. The Corporation shall pay all expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an Indemnitee in
defending any Proceeding in advance of its final disposition; provided, however, that if the DGCL then so requires, the advancement of such
expenses shall be made only upon delivery to the Corporation of an undertaking, by or on behalf of such Indemnitee, to repay such amounts if it
shall ultimately be determined that such Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article VI or otherwise.
Section 6.3: Non-Exclusivity of Rights. The rights conferred on any person in this Article VI shall not be exclusive of any other right
that such person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws, agreement, vote or consent
of stockholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise. Additionally, nothing in this Article VI shall limit the ability of the Corporation, in its
discretion, to indemnify or advance expenses to persons whom the Corporation is not obligated to indemnify or advance expenses pursuant to this
Article VI.
Section 6.4: Indemnification Contracts. The Board is authorized to cause the Corporation to enter into indemnification contracts with
any director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or any person serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee,
agent or trustee of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including employee benefit plans, providing
indemnification or advancement rights to such person. Such rights may be greater than those provided in this Article VI.
Section 6.5: Right of Indemnitee to Bring Suit. The following shall apply to the extent not in conflict with any indemnification contract
provided for in Section 6.4 above.
6.5.1 Right to Bring Suit. If a claim under Section 6.1 or 6.2 of this Article VI is not paid in full by the Corporation within sixty (60) days
after a written claim has been received by the Corporation, except in the case of a claim for an advancement of expenses, in which case the
applicable period shall be twenty (20) days, the Indemnitee may at any time thereafter bring suit against the Corporation to recover the unpaid
amount of the claim. If successful in whole or in part in any such suit, or in a suit brought by the Corporation to recover an advancement of
expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, the Indemnitee shall be entitled to be paid, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the expense
of prosecuting or defending such suit. In any suit brought by the Indemnitee to enforce a right to indemnification hereunder (but not in a suit
brought by the Indemnitee to enforce a right to an advancement of expenses) it shall be a defense that the Indemnitee has not met any applicable
standard of conduct which makes it permissible under the DGCL (or other applicable law) for the Corporation to indemnify the Indemnitee for the
amount claimed.
6.5.2 Effect of Determination. Neither the absence of a determination prior to the commencement of such suit that indemnification of the
Indemnitee is proper in the circumstances because the Indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in applicable law, nor an
actual determination that the Indemnitee has not met such applicable standard of conduct, shall create a presumption that the Indemnitee has not
met the applicable standard of conduct or, in the case of such a suit brought by the Indemnitee, be a defense to such suit.
6. 5. 3 Burden of Proof. In any suit brought by the Indemnitee to enforce a right to indemnification or to an advancement of expenses
hereunder, or brought by the Corporation to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, the burden of proving
that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified, or to such advancement of expenses, under this Article VI, or otherwise, shall be on the
Corporation.
Section 6.6:
Nature of Rights. The rights conferred upon Indemnitees in this Article VI shall be contract rights and such rights shall
continue as to an Indemnitee who has ceased to be a director, officer or trustee and shall inure to the benefit of the Indemnitee’s heirs, executors
and administrators. Any amendment, repeal or modification of any provision of this Article VI that adversely affects any right of an
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Indemnitee or an Indemnitee’s successors shall be prospective only, and shall not adversely affect any right or protection conferred on a person
pursuant to this Article VI and existing at the time of such amendment, repeal or modification.
Section 6.7:
Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect itself and any director,
officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any expense,
liability or loss, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under the
DGCL.
ARTICLE VII: NOTICES
Section 7.1:

Notice.

7.1.1 Form and Delivery. Except as otherwise specifically required in these Bylaws (including, without limitation, Section 7.1.2 below) or
by applicable law, all notices required to be given pursuant to these Bylaws shall be in writing and may (a) in every instance in connection with any
delivery to a member of the Board, be effectively given by hand delivery (including use of a delivery service), by depositing such notice in the mail,
postage prepaid, or by sending such notice by overnight express courier, facsimile, electronic mail or other form of electronic transmission and (b)
be effectively be delivered to a stockholder when given by hand delivery, by depositing such notice in the mail, postage prepaid or, if specifically
consented to by the stockholder as described in Section 7.1.2 of this Article VII by sending such notice by facsimile, electronic mail or other form
of electronic transmission. Any such notice shall be addressed to the person to whom notice is to be given at such person’s address as it appears
on the records of the Corporation. The notice shall be deemed given (a) in the case of hand delivery, when received by the person to whom notice
is to be given or by any person accepting such notice on behalf of such person, (b) in the case of delivery by mail, upon deposit in the mail, (c) in
the case of delivery by overnight express courier, when dispatched, and (d) in the case of delivery via facsimile, electronic mail or other form of
electronic transmission, at the time provided in Section 7.1.2.
7 . 1 . 2 Electronic Transmission. Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to stockholders, any
notice to stockholders given by the Corporation under any provision of the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws shall be
effective if given by a form of electronic transmission consented to by the stockholder to whom the notice is given in accordance with Section 232
of the DGCL. Any such consent shall be revocable by the stockholder by written notice to the Corporation. Any such consent shall be deemed
revoked if (a) the Corporation is unable to deliver by electronic transmission two consecutive notices given by the Corporation in accordance with
such consent and (b) such inability becomes known to the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Corporation or to the transfer agent, or other
person responsible for the giving of notice; provided, however, the inadvertent failure to treat such inability as a revocation shall not invalidate any
meeting or other action. Notice given pursuant to this Section 7.1.2 shall be deemed given: (i) if by facsimile telecommunication, when directed to
a number at which the stockholder has consented to receive notice; (ii) if by electronic mail, when directed to an electronic mail address at which
the stockholder has consented to receive notice; (iii) if by a posting on an electronic network together with separate notice to the stockholder of
such specific posting, upon the later of such posting and the giving of such separate notice; and (iv) if by any other form of electronic
transmission, when directed to the stockholder.
7. 1. 3 Affidavit of Giving Notice. An affidavit of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary or of the transfer agent or other agent of the
Corporation that the notice has been given in writing or by a form of electronic transmission shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence
of the facts stated therein.
Section 7.2:
Waiver of Notice. Whenever notice is required to be given under any provision of the DGCL, the Certificate of
Incorporation or these Bylaws, a written waiver of notice, signed by the person entitled to notice, or waiver by electronic transmission by such
person, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute
a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting
to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the
purpose of, any regular or special meeting
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of the stockholders, directors or members of a committee of directors need be specified in any waiver of notice.
ARTICLE VIII: INTERESTED DIRECTORS
Section 8.1: Interested Directors. No contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its members of the Board or
officers, or between the Corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association or other organization in which one or more of its directors
or officers are members of the board of directors or officers, or have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, or solely
because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the Board or committee thereof that authorizes the contract or
transaction, or solely because his, her or their votes are counted for such purpose, if: (a) the material facts as to his, her or their relationship or
interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board or the committee, and the Board or committee in good faith
authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors
be less than a quorum; (b) the material facts as to his, her or their relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are
known to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the
stockholders; or (c) the contract or transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved or ratified by the Board, a
committee thereof, or the stockholders.
Section 8.2: Quorum. Interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board or of a
committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.
ARTICLE IX: MISCELLANEOUS
Section 9.1:

Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be determined by resolution of the Board.

Section 9.2: Seal. The Board may provide for a corporate seal, which may have the name of the Corporation inscribed thereon and shall
otherwise be in such form as may be approved from time to time by the Board.
Section 9.3:
Form of Records. Any records maintained by the Corporation in the regular course of its business, including its stock
ledger, books of account and minute books, may be kept on or by means of, or be in the form of any other information storage device or method,
electronic or otherwise, provided that the records so kept can be converted into clearly legible paper form within a reasonable time. The
Corporation shall so convert any records so kept upon the request of any person entitled to inspect such records pursuant to any provision of the
DGCL.
Section 9.4:
Reliance upon Books and Records. A member of the Board, or a member of any committee designated by the Board
shall, in the performance of such person’s duties, be fully protected in relying in good faith upon records of the Corporation and upon such
information, opinions, reports or statements presented to the Corporation by any of the Corporation’s officers or employees, or committees of the
Board, or by any other person as to matters the member reasonably believes are within such other person’s professional or expert competence
and who has been selected with reasonable care by or on behalf of the Corporation.
Section 9.5:
Certificate of Incorporation Governs. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of the Certificate of
Incorporation and Bylaws, the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation shall govern.
Section 9.6:
Severability. If any provision of these Bylaws shall be held to be invalid, illegal, unenforceable or in conflict with the
provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, then such provision shall nonetheless be enforced to the maximum extent possible consistent with
such holding and the remaining provisions of these Bylaws (including without limitation, all portions of any section of these Bylaws containing any
such provision held to be invalid, illegal, unenforceable or in conflict with the Certificate of Incorporation, that are not themselves invalid, illegal,
unenforceable or in conflict with the Certificate of Incorporation) shall remain in full force and effect.
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ARTICLE X: AMENDMENT
Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, any alteration, amendment or repeal of these Bylaws, and any adoption of new
Bylaws, shall require the approval of the Board or the stockholders of the Corporation as expressly provided in the Certificate of Incorporation.
________________________

CERTIFICATION OF RESTATED BYLAWS
OF
REDFIN CORPORATION
(a Delaware corporation)

I, Anthony Kappus, certify that I am Secretary of Redfin Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Corporation”), that I am duly authorized
to make and deliver this certification, that the attached Bylaws are a true and complete copy of the Restated Bylaws of the Corporation in effect as
of the date of this certificate.

Dated: August 2, 2017

/s/ Anthony Kappus
Anthony Kappus
Vice President, General Counsel and
Secretary
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CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Glenn Kelman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Redfin Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and
(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: September 8, 2017
/s/ Glenn Kelman
Glenn Kelman
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
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I, Chris Nielsen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Redfin Corporation;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and
(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
Date: September 8, 2017
/s/ Chris Nielsen
Chris Nielsen
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Glenn Kelman, Chief Executive Officer of Redfin Corporation (the “Company”), certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge, the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the
fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2017 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
/s/ Glenn Kelman
Glenn Kelman
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
September 8, 2017

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Chris Nielsen, Chief Financial Officer of Redfin Corporation (the “Company”), certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge, the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the
fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2017 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.
/s/ Chris Nielsen
Chris Nielsen
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
September 8, 2017

